MS-BASED ANALYTICAL METHODOLOGIES TO CHARACTERIZE GENETICALLY MODIFIED CROPS

Virginia García-Cañas, Carolina Simó, Carlos León, Elena Ibáñez, Alejandro Cifuentes*
Institute of Industrial Fermentations (CSIC), Juan de la Cierva 3, 28006, Madrid, Spain.
Keywords: GMOs, transgenics, metabolomics, proteomics.
Title (short version): MS methodologies for GM crops characterization.
Carolo (one one one one one one of one
*Corresponding author: Dr. Alejandro Cifuentes, Tel: 34-91-5618806 Fax#: 34-91-
5644853, e-mail: acifuentes@ifi.csic.es

TABLE OF CONTENTS.

- I- INTRODUCTION.
 - A- DNA RECOMBINANT TECHNOLOGY.
 - B- GENETICALLY MODIFIED CROPS.
 - C- CONTROVERSIAL SAFETY ISSUES OF GENETICALLY MODIFIED ORGANISMS (GMOS).
 - D- LEGISLATION AND SAFETY ASSESSMENT OF GM CROPS.
 - E- ANALYTICAL STRATEGIES TO STUDY GM CROP COMPOSITION.
- II- MS-BASED "OMICS" STRATEGIES FOR GM CROP ANALYSIS.
 - A- MS-BASED APPROACHES FOR PROTEOMIC PROFILING.
 - B- MS-BASED STRATEGIES FOR METABOLOMIC PROFILING.
- III- TARGET-BASED APPROACHES FOR GM CROP ANALYSIS.
 - A- MS-BASED APPROACHES TO ANALYZE TARGET PROTEINS.
 - B- MS-BASED APPROACHES TO ANALYZE TARGET METABOLITES.
- IV- FUTURE OUTLOOK.
- V- ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS.
- VI- REFERENCES.

ABSTRACT

The development of genetically modified crops has had a great impact on the agriculture and food industries. However, the development of any genetically modified organism (GMO) requires the application of analytical procedures to confirm the equivalence of the GMO compared to its isogenic non-transgenic counterpart. Moreover, the use of GMOs in foods and agriculture faces numerous criticisms from consumers and ecological organizations that have led some countries to regulate their production, growth, and commercialization. These regulations have brought about the need of new and more powerful analytical methods to face the complexity of this topic. In this regard, MS-based technologies are increasingly used for GMOs analysis to provide very useful information on GMO composition (e.g., metabolites, proteins). This review focuses on the MS-based analytical methodologies used to characterize genetically modified crops (also called transgenic crops). First, an overview on genetically modified crops development is provided, together with the main difficulties of their analysis. Next, the different MS-based analytical approaches applied to characterize GM crops are critically discussed, and include "-omics" approaches and target-based approaches. These methodologies allow the study of intended and unintended effects that result from the genetic transformation. This information is considered to be essential to corroborate (or not) the equivalence of the GM crop with its isogenic non-transgenic counterpart.

I. INTRODUCTION.

A. DNA recombinant technology.

Since its introduction in the 70s, recombinant DNA technology (or genetic engineering) has become one of the foremost technological advances in modern biotechnology. Genetic engineering allows selected individual genes to be transferred from an organism into another and also between non-related species. The organisms derived from recombinant DNA technology are termed genetically modified organisms (GMOs), and are defined as those organisms in which the genetic material has been altered in a way that does not occur naturally by mating or natural recombination (WHO, 2002). Apart from recombinant DNA technology, other techniques that fall under the GMO definition include methods for the direct introduction of DNA and cell or protoplast fusion techniques, whereas in-vitro fertilization, natural transformation and polyploidy induction are excluded from the definition (Kok *et al.*, 2008).

In plant biology, recombinant DNA technology has become an indispensable tool for the experimental investigation of many aspects of plant physiology and biochemistry that cannot be addressed easily with any other experimental means (Wisniewski *et al.*, 2002). Thus, recombinant DNA technology offers an unprecedented opportunity to study the molecular basis of important processes, such as development, plant-microbe interactions, response to abiotic and biotic stress, and signal transduction pathways, by the analysis of gene function and regulation in transgenic plants (Twyman, Christou & Stöger, 2002).

The adoption of DNA recombinant technology has been considered the fastest growing trend in the history of agriculture, and, over recent years, the full potential of this modern biotechnology has been exploited for its application in modern plant breeding. For centuries, conventional plant-breeding programs have produced crops with new traits and improved quality and yields. Classical plant breeding has been based on improving plant varieties by using different strategies that include techniques such as simple plant crossing and selection, cell tissue culture techniques, mutagenesis based on irradiation, chemical mutagenesis, or the use of transposons. DNA recombinant technology is, however, in marked contrast to traditional breeding, where undefined genes are routinely transferred among breeding lines, species, and even genera. In the context of genetic engineering, the nature of the DNA intended for transfer might be controlled in a very precise manner and limited to the exact minimal DNA sequence that can confer the desired trait. Thus, recombinant DNA technology is used to create genetically modified (GM) plants, which are used to grow GM crops. The rapid progress of this technology has opened new prospects in the development of plants for the production of food, feed, fiber, forest, and other products (Petit *et al.*, 2007).

Typically, GM plants contain an expression cassette or insert that consists of a promoter that controls the expression of the transgene, the encoding region that defines the sequence of amino acids of a particular gene that confers the novel trait, and an expression terminator that functions as a stop signal to terminate the reading of the gene during protein production (Robinson, 2001). The introduction of more than one trait is often achieved by crossing individual single-gene GM lines to produce so-called stacked gene varieties.

B. Genetically modified crops.

The development of GM crops might pursue a variety of purposes that include benefits in industrial processing and for consumer as well as agronomic productivity (Namuth & Jenkins, 2005). Industrial-processing benefits include modifications in grain- or plant-chemical profiles (for example, with respect to oils, starch, fiber, protein), but also includes plants that might produce specific chemicals, natural polymers, pharmaceuticals, decontamination

agents, or fuels (http://www.isaaa.org).). On the other hand, traits to improve productivity aim at better soil-management practices that lead to higher returns and increased profit. Among the modifications, tolerance to herbicide (De Block *et al.*, 1987) and resistance to insects and disease (Hails, 2000) are predominant in current commercialized GM crops, whereas resistance to harsh environmental conditions is still under development.

Since the first commercialization of GM tomato in 1994, over one hundred GMOs have been approved by regulatory agencies in different countries (http://www.agbios.com). In the past decade, the total accumulated land areas cultivated with transgenic crops have increased dramatically. The global area of approved GM crops in 2008 was 125 million hectares in 25 countries compared with 114.3 million hectares in 2007, with an increase of 10.7 million hectares equivalent to an annual growth rate of 9.4% in 2008 (James, 2008). Today, it is possible to introduce and express DNA stably in nearly 150 different plant species (Twyman, Christou & Stöger, 2002), including many important crops such as soybean, maize, wheat, rice, cotton, potato, canola, and tobacco. Furthermore, several GM sugar beet, rice, and potato plants, which are undergoing field trials worldwide, are expected to enter the world markets in the next few years. An expected second generation of GMOs with nutritionally enhanced traits, such as, for instance, plants enriched in β-carotene (Ye *et al.*, 2000), vitamin E (Cahoon *et al.*, 2003), or omega-3 fatty acids (Kinney, 2006)] could likely enter the market in the near future (Robinson, 2001; Schubert, 2008).

C. Controversial safety issues on GMOs.

1. Environment and health concerns.

In spite of its important economic potential, recombinant-DNA technology has become highly controversial, not only within the scientific community but also in the public sector since its

beginning more than three decades ago (Berg *et al.*, 1975). Although GM plants have been farmed and marketed for over a decade, a great deal of controversy still persists about the introduction of GMOs in crops, food, and feed. As with any new technology, concerns have been raised about potential effects that might not be immediately apparent (Roller, 2001). The main controversial issues concentrate on four areas: environmental concerns [(Hails, 2000); (Wolfenbarger & Phifer, 2000); (Thomson, 2003)], concerns about potential harm to human health [(Garza, 2003); (Domingo, 2007); (Craig *et al.*, 2008)], ethical concerns interferences with nature and individual choice (Frewer *et al.*, 2004), and a combination of ethical and socio-economic concerns related to patent issues [(Vergragt & Brown, 2008); (Herring, 2008)].

2. Unintended effects in GM crops.

Regardless of the presumed accuracy of recombinant DNA technology for genetic modification, possible unintended effects that derive from the genetic transformation might occur. Unintended effects are those effects that go beyond the primary expected effects of the genetic modification, and that represent statistically significant differences in a phenotype compared with an appropriate phenotype control (Cellini *et al.*, 2004). Unintended effects might be potentially linked to secondary and pleiotropic effects of gene expression, and, in some cases, they could be somehow predicted or explained from our current knowledge of plant biology and metabolic pathway integration and interconnectivities, or from the function of a transgene or the site of genomic integration [(Kuiper *et al.*, 2001); (Ali *et al.*, 2008)]. However, some other unintended effects might be associated with different alterations that occur during the transformation and tissue-culture stages of GMO development (Latham, Wilson & Steinbrecher, 2006). In this regard, unexpected transformation-induced mutations as the result of deletions, insertions, rearrangements (including duplications), inversions, and

translocations in and outside the genome insertion-site of GM plants have been widely reported in the literature (Latham, Wilson & Steinbrecher, 2006). For instance, genome rearrangements and the presence of foreign-DNA sequences have been detected in commercially approved GM cultivars that were selected for single insertion events [(Fitch et al., 1992); (Windels et al., 2001); (Hernandez et al., 2003); (Rosati et al., 2008)]. These types of mutations produce loss, acquisition, and altered or aberrant expression of important traits, and consequently, could affect the phenotype of the GM plant. The unintended effects derived from this type of genomic alterations are unpredictable and difficult to explain without the thorough characterization of the plant at the molecular level. In other cases, unintended genetic effects will only be observed if they result in a distinct phenotype, including compositional alterations that could be undetectable with the analytical approaches used in conventional risk assessments. From the safety perspective, these unintended effects represent a significant source of unpredictability that might have an impact on human health and, the environment (Ioset et al., 2007).

D. Legislation and safety assessment of GM crops.

Because of the complex composition of foods, safety assessment for GM-crop-derived foods is not a straightforward task as discussed in the literature (Kuiper & Kleter, 2003). As a consequence, important efforts have been made in order to establish globally agreed guidelines for the safety assessment of food and food ingredients derived from GM crops. A general leading strategy has been based on the assumption that traditional crop-plant varieties currently on the market that have been consumed for decades have gained a history of safe use (Kok & Kuiper, 2003), and, therefore, they can be used as comparators for the safety assessment of new GM crop varieties derived from established plant lines. This concept, referred to as "substantial equivalence" (OECD, 1993) or "comparative safety assessment",

constitutes the basis for the current safety assessment of GM foods in many countries. Application of this concept requires the comparison of the GM crop and an appropriate 'safe' comparator according to the agronomical and morphological characteristics, and the chemical composition, including macro- and micro-nutrients, key toxins, and key anti-nutrients (König *et al.*, 2004). However, the application of the substantial "equivalence concept" cannot be considered as a safety assessment *per se*, but rather enables the identification of potential differences between the existing food and the GM crop-derived food; those differences should be further investigated with respect to their toxicological impact (Kuiper *et al.*, 2002).

E. Analytical strategies for the study of GM-crop composition.

In general terms, two conceptually and methodologically different analytical approaches have been used to study GM crops: targeted analysis and profiling approaches. Targeted analysis is helpful to study of the primary or intended effect of the genetic modification. In some cases, the interest might be focused on the insertion and the expression of the new transgene; subsequently, the analysis is directed towards the detection of specific DNA, mRNA, or proteins (i.e., target analytes). Also, with the goal to study the intended effect of the genetic modification at the metabolite level, target analysis might also focus on the detection of a limited selection of metabolites that are involved in altered biochemical/physiological pathway in the GMO. Moreover, the application of targeted analysis to characterize a number of constituents, including macro- and micronutrients, antinutrients, and natural toxins in food crops, has also been proposed as a tool for comparative safety assessments of a GM crop with its traditional counterpart [(Cellini et al., 2004); (Shepherd et al., 2006)].

In the context of substantial equivalence, targeted analysis should cover a number of key nutrients such as proteins, carbohydrates, fats, vitamins, and other

nutritional/antinutritional compounds, which whether or not unintentionally modified, might affect the nutritional value and safety of the crop. In this regard, selection of the target compounds to be analyzed must take into consideration the species, structure, and function of the transgene or transgenes, as well as possible interferences in metabolic pathways. Nevertheless, numerous concerns have been raised about the use of such a targeted analytical approach to compare the composition of GM crops to their traditional counterparts. It has been pointed out that this approach is biased (Millstone, Brunner & Mayer, 1999), and presents many limitations, such as the possible occurrence of unknown toxicants and antinutrients, particularly in food-plant species with no history of (safe) use (Kuiper *et al.*, 2001). Moreover, although a few studies have identified unintended effects with targeted approaches [(Hashimoto *et al.*, 1999); (Shewmaker *et al.*, 1999); (Ye *et al.*, 2000)]; this strategy might restrict the possibilities to detect other unpredictable unintended effects that could result directly or indirectly from the genetic modification.

The aforementioned issues corroborate the need for new and more powerful analytical approaches to study the complexity of this problem, and to increase the chances to detect unintended effects. As an alternative approach, the European Food Safety Agency (EFSA) has recommended the development and use of profiling technologies such as genomics, transcriptomics, proteomics, and metabolomics, with the potential to extend the breadth of comparative analyses (EFSA, 2006). Profiling analysis at the gene, transcript, protein, and metabolite levels are methods of choice to investigate the physiology of GM plants as comprehensively as possible in order to increase consequently the chances to detect unintended effects. Furthermore, the development of more powerful analytical tools is highly required in order to address the forecoming second generation of GMOs, in which significant changes in metabolites such as polyphenols, vitamins, fatty acids, or amino acids will be introduced (Cellini *et al.*, 2004). In addition, the development and application of these

technologies for plant-composition comparison will help to study the performance and value of novel GM plants.

This review highlights the main MS-based analytical methodologies and strategies for the study of GM crops. It is mainly focused on published experimental approaches that are potentially useful to detect and understand intended, as well as unintended effects that result from the genetic transformation. Some prospects for the future are also discussed.

II. MS-BASED "OMICS" STRATEGIES FOR GM CROP ANALYSIS.

Biological systems are highly complex, regulated networks. Regulatory connections exist among all "levels" of the biological system (DNA, RNA, protein, and metabolite), and these circuits can be modulated by internal and external signals (García-Cañas *et al.*, 2009). Accordingly, it is now clear that a study of changes only in a limited group of target compounds associated with the genetic modification does not necessarily lead to an overall functional understanding. Likewise, as it has been discussed above, target-based analysis presents some limitations when applied to the investigation of possible unintended effects that result from the genetic transformation.

Recent advances in the development of high-throughput analytical techniques to investigate the composition and functions of genome, proteome, and metabolome have led to a rapid proliferation of the so-called '-omics' techniques. The development of genomics, transcriptomics, proteomics, and metabolomics has created extraordinary opportunities to increase our understanding on how a particular genetic-transformation event affects gene- and protein-expression, and ultimately influences cellular and plant metabolism.

Several laboratories have explored profiling methods with different aims, including the investigation of the composition and performance of a GM crop, as well as the detection of unintended effects [(Baudo et al., 2006); (Batista et al., 2008); (Coll et al., 2008)]. Among these novel technologies, the gene-expression microarray is a leading analytical technology in several research fields; for instance, in plant biology (Galbraith, 2006), pharmacogenomics (Chicurel & Dalma-Weiszhausz, 2002), nutrigenomics (García-Cañas et al., 2009) and the recently defined field of foodomics (Cifuentes, 2009). A gene-expression microarray is based on specific nucleic acid hybridization, and can be used to measure simultaneously the relative quantities of specific mRNAs in two or more samples for thousands of genes. In this regard, MS-based analytical methodologies are indispensable analytical tools in plant proteome and metabolome studies [(Newton et al., 2004); (Villas-Boas et al., 2005); (Jorrín, Maldonado & Castillejo, 2007); (Baginsky, 2009)] as will be discussed below. Moreover, when comparing a GM crop to its non-GM isogenic variety, it is important to grow both varieties under identical conditions to avoid the influence of other variability factors such as soil, water, weather, etc.

In protein- and metabolite-profiling, the extraction of analytes is a major aspect to take into account. The choice of a particular extraction method will be in accordance with the goal of the study. In this sense, it is important to bear in mind that all extraction techniques constitute a compromise. Unlike target analysis, where the extraction parameters for certain target compounds can be optimized, profiling analysis will cover a range that is as broad as possible of extracted compounds, at the price of potentially low extraction efficiency for some analytes. In opposition to genomics and transcriptomics, where the analytes share the same physicochemical properties, the major limitations in proteomic and metabolomic profiling are associated with the heterogeneity of analytes in terms of physicochemical properties and the extreme differences in abundance. For example, a proteome can have a dynamic range of 7-12 orders of magnitude, and only a few orders can be analyzed simultaneously with the current

proteomic platforms. Owing to this complexity, it is important to develop suitable methodologies of extraction, prefractionation and/or enrichment of less-abundant proteins, and separation procedures in order to simplify the mixtures and to allow their efficient separation and identification with MS-based analytical methodologies [(Righetti *et al.*, 2005); (Haynes & Roberts, 2007)]. At the metabolome level, the problem can be circumvented by fractionated extraction and subsequent analysis of the entire polarity range (from non-polar to polar compounds) by MS-based analysis.

A. MS-based approaches for proteomic profiling.

The genetic modification might entail variations in a number of proteins, many of whose functions might not be known; these variations make challenging the study of the biological significance of such changes. In order to glean an insight into how the modification of the genetic content produces alterations in the plant proteins, a comparative proteomics strategy is mainly used. A combination of three technologies is mostly employed for this goal: two-dimensional gel electrophoresis (2-DGE) to separate complex protein mixtures, image analysis to compare 2-DGE gels, and MS to determine the identity of the differentially expressed proteins. 2-DGE is the most commonly used analytical methodology to monitor changes in the expression of complex protein mixtures, and provide the highest protein-resolution capacity with a low-instrumentation cost. However, this methodology has some limitations. Thus, in addition to the 2-DGE technical hitches to separate highly hydrophobic, extreme isoelectric point or molecular weight (MW) proteins, one of the major sources of error in 2DE is the gel-to-gel variation that makes difficult an exact match of spots in the image-analysis process. Differential in-gel electrophoresis (DIGE) avoids some of the reproducibility problems by loading different samples labeled with ultrahigh-sensitive

fluorescent dyes in the same gel (Timms & Cramer, 2008). After image analysis of the 2-DGE (or DIGE) gels, protein spots of interest are submitted to an in-gel digestion step with an endoproteinase of known specifity. Currently, in the so-called bottom-up proteomic approach (see Figure 1), MS (typically MALDI-TOF MS) and different variants of LC-MS are the established methodologies to analyze a peptide mixture from a 2-DGE separated protein digested with a certain protease enzyme. Databases of protein sequences are used in different ways for protein identification. The main limitation of the *bottom-up* approach is that information obtained is related to a fraction of the protein; information about posttranslational modifications (PTM) might be lost if the PTM-bearing peptide/amino acid is not detected...

Representative examples of the application of MS-based proteomic analysis to the study of substantial equivalence of GM crops are listed in Table 1. As can be seen in Table 1, most of the published proteomic works used the 2-DGE (or DIGE) technology, followed by the identification of the species with a MS-based *bottom-up* proteomic approach. Some representative examples are next discussed.

Thus, a comparison of protein profiles of a GM tomato with a genetically added resistance to tomato spotted-wilt virus (TSWV) vs. the same unmodified tomato line was carried out; no significant differences were detected, either qualitative or quantitative (Corpillo *et al.*, 2004). In another study, the expression of recombinant antibodies in two transgenic crops (tomato and tobacco) -as a strategy to confer self-protection against virus attack- did not significantly alter the leaf-proteome profile (Di Carli *et al.*, 2009). However, Rocco *et al.* observed that a tobacco transformed with the tomato prosystemin gene affected the expression of a number of proteins involved in protection from pathogens and oxidative stress and in carbon/energy metabolism (Rocco *et al.*, 2008). When GM maize was studied, unexpected differences between Bt and wild-type maize were observed [(Albo *et al.*, 2007); (Zolla *et al.*, 2008)]. The great complexity of the proteomic-data interpretation was stated by

Zolla et al., because a significant number of proteins were differentially regulated by environmental influence and as a result of the gene insertion; the environment affects protein expression more than gene manipulation (Zolla et al., 2008). GM wheat cereal has also been studied from a proteomic point of view. Two GM durum wheat cultivars (namely, Svevo B730 1-1 and Ofanto B688 1-2) with modified functional performance of the grain were investigated (Di Luccia et al., 2005). When prolamin composition of both manipulated lines was compared to their respective control lines, significant differences were found only in the GM Ofanto wheat cultivars (Di Luccia et al., 2005). In a later study, it was observed that several classes of proteins were differentially accumulated in the subproteome endosperm of wheat as a result of the overexpression of a low molecular weight glutenin subunit (LMW-GS) in a GM bread wheat that had modified visco-elastic properties of the derived dough (Scossa et al., 2008). The overexpression of LMW-GS was compensated by a decrease in the amount of polypeptides that belong to the prolamin superfamily. According to the authors, most of the observed variations included predictable alterations of the seed proteome. Lehesranta et al. carried out a study on proteome diversity on a large selection of potato varieties and landraces, and showed significant quantitative and qualitative differences in most of the detected proteins (Lehesranta et al., 2005). However, when different GM potato lines were compared with their controls, statistical analysis showed no clear differences in the protein patterns. In a different study, it was observed that the MALDI-TOF MS profile of low molecular mass proteins of non-GM and GM potato (in which the expression of the G1-1 gene was inhibited with antisense technology) did not show any significant differences when the complete tuber was studied (Careri et al., 2003). On the contrary, several differences were observed in the m/z range 3447-6700 when the proteome of apical eyes of the same potato tubers was studied; those data demonstrated that the G1-1 gene is mainly expressed in this tissue.

In general, there is limited information on the extent of natural variation in the proteome of plants caused by environmental factors. In order to avoid any mis- or over-interpretation of the results and any misplaced on safety concern, the variability of the protein expression in conventional crops grown under a range of different environmental conditions should be studied first. Following this idea, the model plant *Arabidopsis thaliana* was used by Ruebelt *et al.* to carry out a broad study, in which analytical validation of 2-DGE methodology was initially done (Ruebelt *et al.*, 2006a) and applied to better understand the natural variability of the proteome (Ruebelt *et al.*, 2006b). The final goal would be to carry out a comprehensive proteomic study to detect unintended effects (Ruebelt *et al.*, 2006b). The seed proteomes from twelve *A. thaliana* lines were compared to those of their parental lines in the context of natural variability; it was observed that the genetic modification from three different genes and three different promoters did not cause any unintended changes (Ruebelt *et al.*, 2006c).

Gel-free protein (or peptide) separation methods enable the direct coupling of a chromatographic or electrophoretic analytical separation technique to a mass spectrometer, so that the separated species that elute from the column can be *on-line* detected and characterized with MS or MS/MS. Gel-free protein separation methods have higher capabilities to analyze highly hydrophobic and extreme isoelectric point or MW proteins. Moreover, the main advantages of a gel-free protein separation method coupled to MS compared with conventional 2-DGE and subsequent MS-based analysis of the protein (or digested protein) of interest are: i) the possibility of full automation; ii) the lower amount of needed starting material; iii) the potential high-throughput capabilities; and iv) the better reproducibility in terms of qualitative (analysis time) and quantitative (peak area) analysis.

Liquid chromatography (LC) and capillary electrophoresis (CE) in their different modes are the main gel-free methodologies applicable to the separation of complex protein (and peptide) mixtures due to their high resolving power and their potential for full automation and high sampling rates [(Tang et al., 2008); (Chen et al., 2008); (Herrero, Ibañez & Cifuentes, 2008); (Sandra et al., 2009)]. Moreover, in 2-DGE, relative abundances of proteins in the samples under study are compared before MS analysis, whereas in LC- or CE-MS the comparison of peptides (or proteins) is carried out after the MS data have been acquired. Multidimensional coupling of CE and LC, and subsequent on-line detection by MS, is a promising methodology in proteomic applications as an alternative to 2-DGE to separate of complex peptide (and in less extent, protein) mixtures (Shen & Smith, 2002). Recently, CE-ESI-MS was applied for the analysis of the zein-proteins fraction from different maize cultivars. Two different mass analyzers were studied; i.e., TOF, and IT (Erny et al., 2008). Although both instruments provided good results in terms of sensitivity and repeatability, CE-ESI-TOF MS identified a higher number of proteins. The CE-ESI-TOF MS coupling was applied to the study the zein fraction of three GM maize lines (Aristis Bt, Tietar Bt and PR33P66 Bt) and their corresponding control lines; no significant differences were found between the GM line and its wild counterpart (Erny et al., 2008).

Profiling proteomic approaches that use MS-based methodologies are also essential to study the mechanisms involved in the response of GM plants submitted to a variety of biotic (pathogens, parasites, etc.) and abiotic (chemicals, drought, salinity, etc.) stresses. Thus, in spite of the aforementioned advantages of a gel-free protein separation method coupled to MS, a differential expression proteomics strategy that combines 2-DGE and MS is still the dominant analytical platform to investigate how the genetic modification produce alterations in proteins abundance, structure, or function, as well as to study the relationships between stress-induced proteins and up- or down-regulated proteins. In this sense, 2-DGE followed by

MALDI-TOF MS was used to study the effect of drought stress on the proteomic expression of a herbicide-resistant transgenic wheat; drought affected the expression of low MW proteins, in the range of 15-27 kDa with isoelectric points between 6.5 and 7.5 (Horvath-Szanics et al., 2006). A similar expression proteomics study was performed to assess changes in the transgenic leaf proteome from leaves of GM tobacco with perturbed polyamine metabolism caused by an S-adenosylmethionine decarboxylase (AdoMetDC) overexpression (Franceschetti et al., 2004). Identification of the proteins with MALDI-QTOF MS showed that the isoforms of chloroplast ribonucleoproteins decreased in abundance in the three transgenic tobacco lines that overexpressed the AdoMetDC protein. A differential protein expression approach was also used to study the effect of variation in alcohol dehydrogenase expression (ADH) in GM grapevine leaves (Tesniere et al., 2006). After observing (in a previous study) variations in some aspects of primary and secondary metabolism, significant alterations were found at the proteomic level (Sauvage et al., 2007). From the 14 selected upor down-regulated spots from the 2-DGE gels, 10 proteins (from 9 spots) were identified with MALDI-TOF MS, and 9 proteins (from 5 spots) were identified with LC-QTOF MS; most identified proteins were related to chloroplasts or to primary metabolism. The effect of the overexpression of calcium-dependent protein kinase 13 (CDPK13) and calreticulin-interacting protein 1 (CRTintP1) involved in cold-stress response was studied in GM rice with nontargeted proteomic approaches (Komatsu et al., 2007). Six 2-DGE-separated proteins related to cold signaling were identified with ESI-QTOF MS.

One of the main factors that make difficult the analysis of complex proteomes is the presence of abundant species. The importance of low-abundance protein enrichment in a GM model plant was showed by Widjaja *et al.* (Widjaja *et al.*, 2009). Patterns of two isogenic *Arabidopsis* lines with the same dexamethasone-inducible *avrRpm* transgene that differ in the absence or presence of the *RPM1* gene were compared by a study of the microsomal

subproteome. In a different study, an enhanced resolution and protein coverage was obtained with microsomal fractionation and rubisco (with up to 50% of the soluble protein in leaves) depletion with differential concentration of the polyethylene glycol (PEG)-mediated protein-fractionation technique (Kim *et al.*, 2001). A total of 34 differentially regulated protein spots could be identified; most were metabolism-, signaling-, and defense-related proteins.

Shotgun-proteomic approaches have also been used in non-targeted studies of GM shotgun-proteomics, protein digestion performed crops. is without any prefractionation/separation of the proteome, and peptides are separated with LC followed by MS/MS analysis to provide a comprehensive, rapid, and automatic identification of proteins in complex mixtures. Currently, this approach seems to be the best choice to analyze samples that cannot be efficiently resolved on 2-DGE because of their physico-chemical properties. Shotgun-proteomics with 4-plex iTRAQ (isobaric tags for relative and absolute quantification) reagents identified and quantified a rice proteome for comparative expression profiles between transgenic and wild-type (Luo et al., 2009). The four independent isobaric reagents (designed to react with all primary amines of a protein hydrolyzate) reacted with four different protein hydrolyzates that were subsequently pooled. MS/MS analysis of four unique reported ions (m/z=114-117) were used to quantify the four different samples (Ross et al., 2004). Previously, it was observed that the iTRAQ shotgun strategy provided a more consistent protein quantitation compared to 2-DGE (Aggarwal, Choe & Lee, 2006). Among the 1883 proteins identified in rice endosperm with this analytical strategy, 103 displayed significant changes between GM and wild-type rice (Luo et al., 2009). Today, eight different iTRAQ are available to enable larger scale screenings with up to eight different samples in the same MS analysis.

B. MS-based strategies for metabolomic profiling.

Metabolomic studies of GM plants might indicate whether intended and/or unintended effects have taken place as a result of genetic modification (Shepherd *et al.*, 2006). However, as in the case of proteomics, at the moment there is no simple analytical platform to acquire significant amounts of data in a single experimental analysis to provide a maximum coverage of the metabolome. Metabolites encompass a wide range of chemical species that have widely divergent physicochemical properties. In addition, the relative concentration of metabolites in a cell or tissue can range from the millimolar to the picomolar level. Consequently, high resolution and sensitivity are the most relevant parameters to take into account to select an appropriate method for comprehensive metabolomic analysis (Villas-Boas *et al.*, 2005).

In essence, metabolic profiling approaches can be divided into nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) and MS-based methodologies. NMR approaches are out of scope of this review; therefore, we will only discuss MS-based procedures. The main advantages of MS are high resolution, high sensitivity, a wide dynamic range, coverage of a wide chemical diversity, robustness, and feasibility to elucidate the MW and structure of unknown compounds. MS is inherently more sensitive than NMR, but it is destructive and it is generally necessary to employ different extraction procedures and separation techniques for different classes of compounds (Lu *et al.*, 2008).

MS has wide possibilities to evaluate GM crops based on their metabolic profiling, as demonstrated through the large number of applications that use GC-MS, LC-MS, CE-MS, or MS as a stand-alone technique (Hoekenga *et al.*, 2008). A summary of some of these MS-based profiling approaches for the analysis of GM crops is given in Table 2; these applications are discussed next, and are classified according to the analytical tool employed.

1. Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS).

GC coupled to MS has been extensively used for metabolome analysis because of its high separation efficiency, reproducibility, and the ease to interface GC with different MS analyzers (Villas-Boas *et al.*, 2005). GC-MS can be used to analyze a wide range of volatile compounds, and semi- and non-volatile compounds after chemical derivatization. Recently, GC-MS has been established as one of the most versatile and sensitive techniques for metabolic profiling. The use of this technique combined with a variety of chemometric approaches (e.g., principal components analysis, PCA) has been proven to be suitable to discover differences that enable plants of distinct lines to be distinguished from each other (Fiehn *et al.*, 2000).

In a series of papers, Roessner *et al.* applied this profiling methodology to identify and quantify the level of the main metabolites in tubers of transgenic potato lines with altered sugar or starch metabolism (Roessner *et al.*, 2000). The first study reported a methodology based on the extraction of polar metabolites from potato tubers, followed by methoximation and silylation to volatilize various classes of compounds (Roessner *et al.*, 2000). After sample treatment, the analysis resulted in complex and reproducible GC-MS chromatograms of more than 150 compounds; 77 compounds of known structure were identified by comparison of the obtained spectra with commercially available spectra from MS libraries. GC-MS corroborated the scientific conclusions drawn in previous studies of the GM lines; in particular, the increase of glycolysis, amino acids, and organic acids observed in the GMOs. In addition, unexpected alterations of the levels of some disaccharides such as trehalose were identified. In further reports, GC-MS analysis of potato tubers that were genetically modified to contain more efficient sucrose catabolism revealed a massive elevation in the content of each individual amino acid [(Roessner, Willmitzer & Fernie, 2001a); (Roessner *et al.*, 2001b)]. This unexpected feature was particularly surprising because the tuber did not possess the necessary

machinery for *de novo* synthesis of amino acids; those results suggested that pathways other than those targeted by the genetic modification could be affected. Additionally, the method was evaluated in combination with data-mining tools that included hierarchical clustering and PCA to discriminate plants that were genetically modified or cultivated under different growth conditions. In a subsequent paper, the reported methodology was adapted to investigate the influence of hexokinase, a key enzyme in sucrose metabolism, in developing transgenic tomato plants that overexpressed Arabidopsis hexokinase, with a particular focus on distinct phases of fruit development (Roessner-Tunali *et al.*, 2003). As an example, the GC-MS electropherogram can be seen in Figure 2. Although many interesting results emerged from a point-by-point analysis, and from a study of the changes of specific metabolites over developmental time, PCA revealed that separation of the GM fruits from the controls is larger in the early developmental stage; those data suggested a higher influence of the recombinant enzyme on the metabolism at this stage.

After these pioneering works, a number of GC-MS studies have been reported. For instance, by following a similar approach, metabolic profiling of a tryptophan (Trp)-enriched GM soybean line has recently shown significantly higher levels of fructose, myo-inositol, and shikimic acid among 37 total organic acids, sugars, alcohols, and phenolic compounds in the leaves compared to the controls (Inaba *et al.*, 2007). Likewise, GC-MS metabolic-profiling analysis of a transgenic variety of *Artemisia annua* L., the natural source of the anti-malarial drug artemisinin, has recently proven to be a valuable tool to identify key enzymes in the biosynthesis pathway of this phytochemical (Ma *et al.*, 2008). The genetic modification involved the overexpression of farnexyl diphosphate synthase, an important enzyme in sesquiterpenoid biosynthesis. Extracts from different plant tissues were derivatized for further GC-MS analysis to provide, after chromatogram alignment, 188 chromatographic peaks that were evaluated with PCA or PLS-DA (partial least squares discriminant analysis). The

experiments demonstrated different sesquiterpene contents in different developmental stages and strains; those data suggested the existence of a potential key step in the biosynthetic pathway of artemisinin (Ma *et al.*, 2008).

Plants have the ability to produce volatile aroma compounds, such as aldehydes and alcohols, which give rise to characteristic flavors and odors. Flavors are influenced by numerous factors, mainly, genetic makeup and external agronomical factors, such as climate and soil type. Volatile aromatic compounds are secondary metabolites that are generated through numerous pathways during the fruit-ripening process. Malowicki et al. have carried out a comparative GC-MS study of the volatile composition of virus-resistant transgenic and conventional raspberry grown in two different locations and seasons (Malowicki, Martin & Qian, 2008). Volatile compounds were extracted from the red raspberries with a stir-sorptive bar. MS quantification was carried out with selective-mass ions to avoid any interference between coeluted compounds. Quantification curves were constructed by plotting the selective-ion abundance ratio of target compounds with their respective internal standards against the concentration ratio. None of the 30 selected compounds, based on their previously reported importance to raspberry aroma as well as their representation to various chemical classes including alcohol, aldehyde, ketone, ester, terpene, and terpene alcohol, showed any difference between the transgenic lines and the wild type. In addition to raspberry, the aroma from transgenic cucumber lines have also been evaluated with GC-MS (Zawirska-Wojtasiak et al., 2009). Four lines of GM cucumber with different levels of thaumatin II gene overexpression were tested. Two extraction methods of volatile compounds from cucumbers were evaluated; namely, microdistillation (MD) and solid-phase microextraction (SPME). The cucumber extracts were subjected to GC-EI-Q MS and GC-EI-TOF MS analysis. SPME enabled the identification of a higher number of compounds (a total of 28 compounds) due to its capability to detect low boiling point volatiles, defined by the solvent in the case of MD. Although all identified compounds were identical in the transgenic lines and in the control, analyses showed that, regardless the MS-based analytical technique used, significant differences occurred in the quantitative composition of the aroma between fruits of transformed and control cucumber lines.

Among the novel developments in metabolomic profiling of GMOs, new chemometric approaches include modeling of two or more classes, such as the developed based on orthogonal PLC discriminant analysis (OPLC-DA) to compare two different transgenic poplar lines (*Populus tremula* L.) with the wild-type with GC-MS metabolomics (Wiklund *et al.*, 2008). The two transgenic lines were up- and down-regulated for the expression of *PttPME1* gene, respectively, with the aim to affect the degree of methyl esterification of homogalacturonan, the most important component of pectin in plant cell walls. Poplar metabolites were extracted with organic extraction from leaves, and were derivatized for GC-EI-TOF MS separation. Data sets were processed with the hierarchical multivariate curve resolution MATLAB script, which is useful for spectra comparison in the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) library. In addition, an improved visualization and discrimination of interesting metabolites from wild and GM lines could be demonstrated with OPLS (Wiklund *et al.*, 2008).

Recently, several laboratories directed their studies toward the investigation of unintended effects in GM crops. Bernal *et al.* developed a methodology based on supercritical fluid extraction (SFE) and GC-EI-Q MS for the selective extraction and subsequent profiling and quantification of amino acid from GM soybean and maize (Bernal *et al.*, 2008). The suitability of the method to identify differences in amino acids profiles were confirmed by the comparison of five different transgenic lines with their corresponding isogenic lines grown under the same conditions. Catchpole *et al.* proposed a hierarchical experimental approach to study the compositional similarities/differences between GM and conventional crops

(Catchpole et al., 2005). The methodology was tested in potato crops that were genetically modified to contain high levels of inulin-type fructans. The approach involved an initial evaluation of the degree of compositional similarity between tubers of transgenic and several conventional potato cultivars. This first step was carried out with FIA-TOF MS (flowinjection analysis ESI-MS) of 600 potato extracts and subsequent PCA that identified 15 topranking ions for genotype separation with higher-loading scores; some ions corresponded to oligofructans of different polymerization degrees. Complementary GC-EI-TOF MS profiling of more than 2000 tuber samples provided a more-detailed global profiling of 242 individual metabolites (90 positively identified, 89 assigned to a specific metabolite class, and 73 unknowns). Further chemometric analysis of data showed that, apart from targeted changes by the genetic modification, transgenic potatoes displayed a similar metabolite composition inside the range exhibited normally by conventional cultivars. In a recent paper, Zhou et al. reported the combined use of GC-flame ionization detection (FID) and GC-MS to investigate possible unintended effects in a transgenic line of rice that expressed two genes that confer distinct insect resistance (Zhou et al., 2009). GC-MS was exclusively used to identify certain important compounds after GC-FID profiling. Authors employed multivariate analyses, namely, PCA and PLS-DA, to visualize and analyze the metabolite data. They concluded that the growing conditions and the genetic transformation induced a similar influence on the concentrations of glycerol-3-phosphate, citric acid, oleic acid, and sucrose, whereas other metabolites (sucrose, mannitol, and glutamic acid) were widely affected by the genetic modification.

2. Liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC-MS).

In addition to GC-MS, LC coupled to MS is a useful tool for the metabolomic analysis of GM crops, and provide a wide dynamic range, reproducible quantitative analysis, and the ability to separate and analyze extremely complex samples (Lu *et al.*, 2008). Moreover, LC-MS is

considered a versatile technique for the analysis of metabolites, whose analysis with GC-MS is, in general, precluded, These metabolites include polar/non-volatile, large, and/or thermolabile compounds. In addition, LC-MS can resolve and quantify multiple components in crude biological extracts typically down to the nanomolar or picomolar range from as little as microliter volumes.

The application of LC-MS to metabolite profiling of GM crops is relatively recent. In general, metabolite-profiling studies of GMOs with LC-MS have been mostly performed with solvent gradients and reversed-phase LC (RPLC). LC-MS is useful to provide complementary and interesting data in the investigation of metabolism alterations in transgenic grapevine (Vitis vinifera) (Tesniere et al., 2006). Grapevine plants transformed with three different genetic constructions (normal, sense, and antisense) to either over- or underexpress alcohol dehydrogenase were characterized with different molecular methods, biochemical and profiling techniques. More precisely, profiling of phenolic compounds was performed with LC-ESI-IT MS, whereas volatile compounds were profiled with GC-EI-MS. Among the profiles from transgenic grapevine with normal, sense, and antisense constructs, differences were noted in some phenolic compounds and volatile secondary metabolites that belong to the classes of monoterpenes, C12-norisoprenoids, and shikimates (Tesniere et al., 2006). As exemplified in this study, the combination of different analytical techniques allows a better description of the metabolome status of a GMO.

Recently, the LC-MS profiling of polyphenols in GM crops has attracted the attention of several laboratories. Shin *et al.* used this technique to explore the flavonoids content in GM rice endosperm that expresses regulatory genes from maize that induce the production of various flavonoids (Shin *et al.*, 2006). Ioset *et al.* have recently investigated changes in the metabolite accumulation in two transgenic lines of wheat (*Triticum aestivum L.*) with either antifungal or viral resistance (Ioset *et al.*, 2007). Flavonoids were extracted with SPE, and

were analyzed by LC-IT MS with two different ionization sources, ESI and APCI. In addition, LC-MS/MS experiments, using the ESI in negative mode, were performed after selection and consecutive fragmentation of the most intense precursor ions. Based on their MS/MS fragmentation, this analytical procedure allowed a differentiation between C-glycoside flavonoids and O-glycoside analogues; that differentiation was especially advantageous to draw structural conclusions about the flavonoids. Hierarchical clustering of data revealed a closer correlation between GM/non-GM plants of the same variety than between conventional plants of different varieties. In a different study, Nicoletti et al. concentrated on the LC-MS profiling of stilbenes, a specific class of polyphenols, in transgenic tomato (Nicoletti et al., 2007). The GM tomato overexpressed a grapevine gene that encoded the enzyme stilbene synthase. The plant was designed to synthesize new compounds (trans-resveratrol and transpiceid), and to increase total antioxidant activity. Consequently, the study was conducted to investigate possible perturbations on the synthesis of other metabolites along the flavonoids pathway. Flavonoid extracts from tomato fruits and peels were analyzed with LC-ESI-MS in the negative ionization mode, which resulted in higher sensitivity and lower background noise than in the positive mode for the detection of stilbenes and phenolic compounds. On the basis of the retention times and UV and MS data, the identification of resveratrol and its glycosilated forms was possible in one analysis. Results indicated differences in the levels of rutin, naringenin, and chlorogenic acid found in transgenic tomatoes in comparison to the control lines; those differences seem to be related to the genetic transformation (Nicoletti et al., 2007).

3. Capillary electrophoresis-mass spectrometry (CE-MS).

CE-MS can be considered as a complementary analytical technique to LC-MS and GC-MS. It is better suited to analyze ionic and polar thermolabile compounds that might not be separated with the reversed phase columns that are mostly used in LC-MS nor analyzed by GC-MS due

to the required high temperatures. The main advantages of CE-MS are fast separation speed and extremely high efficiency and resolution. Moreover, samples analyzed by CE-MS usually require little pretreatment. On the other hand, the sample volumes are very low and confer moderate sensitivity to CE-MS. Besides, the different ESI interfaces developed for CE-MS still have to improve their robustness.

CE-MS has already shown its potential to analyze complex metabolomes [(Babu et al., 2006); (Monton & Soga, 2007); (Song et al., 2008); (Ramautar, Somseng & de Jong, 2009)]. Thus, around 1700 different metabolites were detected (of which 150 were identified) with CE-MS from bacteria-cell extracts with two different methods and scanning from m/z 70 to 1027 in intervals of 30 Th (Soga et al., 2003). Moreover, in a recent paper, single cells and subcellular metabolomes could also be investigated with CE-MS (Lapainis, Rubakhin & Sweedler, 2009). Some attempts have been made to carry out metabolome analysis in higher plants with CE-MS methods [(Sato et al., 2004); (Edwards et al., 2006); (Harada et al., 2008)]. CE-MS has also been used for the non-targeted analysis of some GM crops; namely, rice, soybean, and maize. The metabolome of GM rice that overexpress YK1, which possesses dihydroflavonol-4-reductase activity and shows biotic and abiotic stress tolerance (enhancement of tolerance to ultraviolet irradiation, salt, submergence, hydrogen peroxide, and blast disease), was studied (Takahashi et al., 2006). MS analysis was carried out in the positive ionization mode to detect amino acids, and in the negative ionization mode to analyze organic acids, to quantitatively compare their levels in transgenic rice that express the YK1. Analytes were identified by comparison of their m/z values and migration times with standard metabolites. Although this study did not show significant differences in the total amount of free amino acids, a slight decrease in aspartate and glutamine were observed, most probably due to the activation of the NAD synthetic pathway induced by the overexpression of YK1, because these amino acids are precursors of NAD in plants (Takahashi et al., 2006). In a

different work, a chiral CE-ESI-TOF MS method was developed to study differences in the amino acid profile among six varieties of conventional and GM soybean with resistance to the herbicide glyphosate (Giuffrida et al., 2009). Novel modified cyclodextrins (mCDs) were used as chiral selectors in the separation buffer to obtain a good chiral resolution. The mCD concentration was so low (0.5 mM mCDs) that a direct entrance to the ESI-MS was possible with only a very low sensitivity decrease. Evaluation of D/L-amino acids from transgenic and conventional maize was carried out with this new chiral CE-ESI-TOF MS method; a very similar D/L-amino acid profile was obtained for wild and transgenic soya. However, an interesting finding was the presence of a very low amount of D-Arg in transgenic maize and not in the conventional one; however, it was concluded that a higher number of analyses should be carried out in order to discard D-Arg appearance in GM maize due, e.g., to environmental variations or natural variability. Other studies with CE-MS for metabolite profiling of GM crops used a complete analytical method of extraction, analysis, and data evaluation for transgenic and conventional maize and soybean [(Levandi et al., 2008); (Garcia-Villalba et al., 2008)]. CE-ESI-TOF MS was used to evaluate statistically significant differences in the metabolic profile of varieties of conventional and transgenic Bt11 maize (Levandi et al., 2008). The extraction procedure with ultrasound and different solvents was optimized in order to extract the highest number of metabolites from the maize flour. ESI-TOF MS was used to take advantage of its great mass accuracy for metabolite identification. After introducing a molecular formula into different databases, such as KEGG (Kyoto Encyclopedia Gene and Genome) or Chemspider (Database of Chemical Structures and Property Predictions), 27 different metabolites were tentatively identified, as can be seen in Figure 3. After PCA of the CE-MS set of data, some statistically significant differences between conventional and transgenic maize were found; e.g., L-carnitine and stachydrine were overexpressed in all the studied GM maize varieties (Levandi et al., 2008). In a similar study, CE-ESI-TOF MS was used to compare metabolic profiles from a transgenic soybean (glyphosate-resistant) and its corresponding nontransgenic parental line (García-Villalba *et al.*, 2008). In that study, 45 different metabolites, among them, isoflavones, amino acids, and carboxylic acids, were identified. The slight differences found in the metabolic profiles of both lines emphasized a clear down-expression of the three amino acids, proline, histidine, and asparagine in the GM soybean. On the other hand, a metabolite tentatively identified as 4-hydroxi-L-threonine disappeared in the transgenic soybean compared to its parental non-transgenic line (García-Villalba *et al.*, 2008).

4. Fourier- transform ion-cyclotron resonance mass spectrometry (FT-ICR-MS).

The use of high magnetic-field Fourier-transform ion-cyclotron MS (FT-ICR-MS) provides the highest achievable mass resolution and accuracy to allow, in combination with soft ionization technologies, high-throughput metabolic profiling among other applications [(Marshall, Hendrikson & Jackson, 1998); (Page, Masselon & Smith, 2004); (Römpp *et al.*, 2005)]. With such a high mass accuracy (sub-ppm) and ultra-high mass resolution (greater than 100,000) for component separation, elemental formula determination from hundreds of different compounds can be determined in direct infusion analyses of, e.g., crude plant extracts without a previous chromatographic or electrophoretic separation, and/or derivatization reaction. Special attention has to be paid, however, to matrix effects during direct infusion because matrix effects can produce poor ionization of interesting analytes. Moreover, FT-ICR-MS presents only moderate sensitivity and quantitative capabilities.

FT-ICR-MS-based metabolic profiling has already been used as a powerful analytical platform for plant-metabolomic studies [(Brown, Kruppa & Dasseux, 2005); (Oikawa *et al.*, 2006); (Ohta, Shibata & Kanaya, 2007)]. Aharoni *et al.* published one of the first studies on the use of FT-ICR-MS to metabolomic profile GM crops (Aharoni *et al.*, 2002). To obtain a

comprehensive metabolomic profile of the crude plant extract, ionization was performed in the positive and negative modes with either ESI or APCI. Interesting information was first obtained from the profiles of known metabolites during the transition from immature to ripe strawberry. The method was applied to monitor changes in the metabolic profiles of tobacco flowers that overexpress a strawberry MYB transcription factor and that are altered in petal color. From the FT-ICR-MS data set, it was observed that nine metabolites changed between transgenic and control plants, among which was the mass that corresponded to the main flower pigment, cyanidin-3-rhamnoglucoside (Aharoni et al., 2002). In a later study, metabolomic patterns from stress-tolerant GM rice were studied to elucidate the effects of an over-expression of the YK1 gene (Takahashi et al., 2005). More than 850 metabolites were determined with FT-ICR-MS in different tissues; the metabolomic profiles were significantly different among callus, leaf, and panicle. PCA also revealed slight differences in the metabolic profiles between control and YK1 in callus, which however, were almost identical those in leaf and panicle tissues (Takahashi et al., 2005). FT-ICR-MS was also used to examine gdhA GM tobacco (Nicotiana tabacum) with altered glutamate, amino acid, and carbon metabolism, which fundamentally alter plant productivity (Mungur et al., 2005). With the FT-ICR-MS methodology, more than 2012 reproducible ion signals could be detected; about 58% of the molecules were not in the interrogated databases, and 42% of ions were identified as known metabolites. Amino acids, organic acids, sugars, and some fatty acids significantly change their abundance in root and leaf due to the genetic modification. The altered concentration of 32 compounds with biomedical significance suggested the use of FT-ICR-MS as a useful tool for the pharmaceutical industry to discover new, interesting plantderived compounds from GM crops. The authors recommended the use of the FT-ICR-MS data to be used as preliminary evidence to further experiments because some of the identified compounds were not plant metabolites; the measure of the exact masses could not unequivocally identify specific compounds. CE-TOF MS and FT-ICR-MS were used to profile six varieties of maize, three GM lines with a new Cry-type gene to resist insect plagues, and their corresponding isogenic lines (León et al., 2009). Pressurized liquid extraction (PLE) was used for the automated sample extraction of metabolites for subsequent FT-ICR-MS analysis. With direct infusion FT-ICR-MS in the positive and negative ESI modes, a vast amount of data was generated, from which ca. 1000 signals were used to assign elemental compositions. The FT-ICR-MS data were uploaded into a MassTRIX server (Suhre & Schmitt-Kopplin, 2008) in order to display the results on maize-specific annotated metabolites in the KEGG database and their related pathway maps. An example of the results from this powerful approach is shown in Figure 4. FT-ICR-MS information; however, in several cases not enough data were available to undoubtedly identify certain compounds, because FT-ICR-MS cannot differentiate among structures between isomers, so that migration time, electrophoretic mobilities, and m/z values provided by CE-TOF MS were used to confirm the compound identification. With this methodology, metabolic profile of the different maize lines was evaluated. Statistically significant differences were found in some metabolic pathways such as tyrosine and tryptophan metabolism. Some maize-transgenic biomarkers like L-carnitine were also observed, corroborating the previously published results (Levandi et al., 2008). The comparison of these two different MS-based analytical approaches showed that, although mass accuracy is very useful information for metabolite elucidation and high resolution provided many more detected metabolites, the FT-ICR-MS data must be, in some cases, complemented with additional analytical information to unequivocally identify certain compounds.

III. TARGET-BASED APPROACHES FOR GM CROP ANALYSIS

Two types of macromolecules, specific for a genetic modification, have been targeted in order to reveal the presence of GMOs (or a derivative) in foods: proteins and DNAs. Recently, a number of analytical procedures available for GMO detection in the food and feed chain involve the use of PCR because of its high sensitivity and specificity (García-Cañas, Cifuentes & González, 2004a). New trends in this field include: replacement of classical agarose gel electrophoresis with capillary electrophoresis with laser-induced fluorescence detection [(García-Cañas, González & Cifuentes, 2002a); (García-Cañas, González & Cifuentes, 2002b)]; microarray analysis for high-throughput GMO screening (Hamels et al., 2009); development of biosensors (Karamollaoglu, Oktema & Mutlub, 2009); development of real-time PCR (Hernández et al., 2004) and competitive PCR methods (García-Cañas, Cifuentes & González, 2004a) for GMO quantification; and development of multiplex PCRbased strategies [(García-Cañas, Cifuentes & González, 2004b); (García-Cañas & Cifuentes, 2008); (Heide et al., 2008)]. These developments are beyond the scope of this article, and excellent reviews on these topics can be found elsewhere [(Elenis et al., 2008); (Michelini et al., 2008); (Marmiroli et al., 2008); (Morisset et al., 2008)]. In addition to those strategies, LC-MS has been recently demonstrated to be suitable for the multiple and simultaneous analysis of specific transgenic DNA sequences for the detection of Roundup Ready soybean, a transgenic soybean resistant to the herbicide glyphosate (Shanahan et al., 2007). The LC-MS approach was based on a first DNA amplification step that covered specific DNA sequences (transgenic and endogenous gene) with PCR in DNA extracts from soybean samples, followed by single base-pair extension with specific oligonucleotides and dideoxynucleotide triphosphates. Oligonucleotides generated in this step were online purified prior to LC-ESI-MS analysis. In that study, a C18 stationary phase was used because of its ability to retain the analytes, while also allowing the use of MS-compatible buffers. However, it was necessary to minimize the buffer concentration to a 0.5 mM ammonium hydrogen carbonate and to mantain the pH below 7 in order to preserve column life. In addition to those steps, the desalting step was an essential requirement to reduce the production of adducts that decrease the sensitivity. Although the methodology reported good sensitivity and quantitative potential, it is far from being considered a routine procedure for GMO detection.

A. MS-based approaches to analyze target proteins.

Despite the current prominent role achieved by DNA detection methods in GM crops, the detection of newly expressed proteins has also been important for the investigation of the intended effect that results from a genetic modification, for example, to monitor recombinant plant-produced pharmaceutical and industrial proteins (Goldstein & Thomas, 2004), or especially, on the detection of transgene expression in the postharvest stage (Carpentier et al., 2008). Among the existing protein-based analytical approaches, the use of polyclonal antibodies for immunochemical detection has been frequently demonstrated (Grothaus *et al.*, 2006). Owing to the high specificity of the immunological reaction, recognition of the target protein has been achieved (Stave, 2002). In these immunological analyses, the presence of interfering compounds must be carefully monitored because they frequently give rise to unwanted cross-reactions.

There are only few studies published on the use of MS approaches for the target analysis of transgenic protein in GM crops. Some limitations of the application of MS to protein target analysis might rely on the low expression levels of the recombinant protein in addition to the fact that, frequently, the new protein is not evenly distributed in the plant

tissues. Moreover, a significant drawback in most targeted studies for protein analysis is that the wide dynamic concentration range of proteins in biological fluids or tissues causes many detection difficulties due to a large number of proteins that are below the level of sensitivity of the most advanced instruments. For this reason, protein fractionation that exploits the different physicochemical properties of proteins and subsequent concentration of the selected protein is commonly needed.

In a series of studies, Fernandez Ocaña et al. [(Fernandez Ocaña et al, 2007); (Fernandez Ocaña et al., 2009)] demonstrated the potential of two different MS-based approaches to detect and characterize the transgenic protein CP4 EPSPS in several crops. This recombinant CP4 EPSPS protein confers resistance to the herbicide glyphosate in several commercial GM crops; namely, soya and maize. In the first study, different fractionation and enrichment approaches were used to overcome the interference generated by the abundant seed-storage proteins on the MS detection of the low-abundance proteins (Fernandez Ocaña et al., 2007). Gel-filtration chromatography (GFC) followed by SDS-PAGE fractionation was used for CP4 EPSPS protein purification. The authors also observed that an additional anionexchange prefractionation step after GFC and SDS-PAGE provided a further protein enrichment to allow the analysis of lower levels of CP4 EPSPS protein in the different crop samples. The MS analytical strategy was based on the tryptic digestion of the purified CP4 EPSPS protein of the GM and non-GM crop and subsequent analysis with either MALDI-TOF MS or nLC-ESI-QTOF MS. The methodology permitted the detection of 0.9% GM soya seeds. Furthermore, as the same group demonstrated later, the use of stable-isotope-based MS analysis was an interesting alternative for the target analysis of the transgenic protein (Fernandez Ocaña et al., 2009). In that latter work (Fernandez Ocaña et al., 2009), the authors investigated the suitability of two different approaches, [namely, the automated quantitative analysis (AQUATM) system, and the aforementioned isobaric tags for relative and absolute quantification (iTRAQ)] for the absolute quantification of different CP4 EPSPS protein levels in herbicide-tolerant GM soya seeds. The analytical procedure used also a previous fractionation step based on CP4 EPSPS enrichment by combining anion-exchange chromatography and SDS-PAGE in order to reduce the sample complexity. In the AQUA strategy, the heavy isotope-labeled internal standard peptide (L*)AGGEDVADLR (L*=13C), the same amino acid sequence to that of the peptide that originated from the enzymatic hydrolysis of the CP4 EPSPS protein, was introduced into the CP4 EPSPS protein-enriched sample; that mixture was next subjected to tryptic digestion. After nLC-ESI-QTOF MS analysis, quantification was accomplished by comparing signal intensities of the intact native and synthetic peptides, as can be seen in Figure 5. Alternatively, isobaric reagents were used for CP4 EPSPS quantitation. After protein purification and subsequent digestion, the peptide mixture submitted to iTRAQ labeling was fractionated with SCX chromatography before nLC-ESI-QTOF MS analysis. AQUA and iTRAQ procedures demonstrated both the potential for quantitative detection purposes of 0.5% GM soybean seeds. Target analysis with nLC-ESI-QTOF MS is useful to study the expression of LHCb1-2, a pea protein, in transformed tobacco plants (Labate et al., 2004). The presence of the recombinant protein was investigated at the different plant-organization levels that ranged from the organelles to the tissue and organ levels. Prior to MS analysis, purification of LHCb proteins with sucrose-gradient ultracentrifugation and SDS-PAGE was needed. After nLC-ESI-QTOF MS analysis of the purified enzyme-digested proteins, the authors did not detect any major difference in the relative amounts of LHCb proteins in the tobacco plants (Labate et al., 2004).

B. MS-based approaches to analyze target metabolites.

Although there is not a direct link between genes and metabolites, genetic modifications might be often connected to specific metabolism responses; e.g., as a result of the activity of given proteins or enzymes. Accordingly, target analysis of metabolites can be useful to study the specific effect produced in an organism by a genetic modification (Villas-Boas et al., 2005). This goal is particularly feasible when the desired effect of a genetic modification involves an increase or decrease of a key enzyme within a metabolic pathway that affects the levels of a specific metabolite or a group of metabolites. Similarly, target-metabolite analysis specially applies for the study of the primary effect of the genetic modification in nutritionally enhanced GM crops, or in the so-called second generation GM crops (e.g., those that produce vitamins and other food supplements). MS analysis is helpful as, for example, in a recent investigation on the expression of a tobacco anthranilate-synthase gene introduced in GM soybeans with the aim to generate tryptophan (Trp)-enriched soybeans (Inaba et al., 2007). The isoforms expressed in GM soybeans are regulatory enzymes in tryptophan biosynthesis. However, this particular isoform was not sensitive to feedback control by the end-product Trp. To evaluate the effect of the insertion of the transgene driven by the constitutive CaMV 35S promoter on the levels of amino acids in different soybean transformants, GC-MS was successfully used. The MS detector equipped with a classical electron ionization (EI) source and operated in the single-ion monitoring (SIM) mode and a m/z range between 50-300 provided the detection of all free amino acids except for arginine; that study demonstrated that GM soybean contained about six-fold as much Trp as the non-modified soybean used as control. In a different study of rice transformed with the same genetic modification, LC-MS/MS was used to analyze free and conjugated forms of indole-3-acetic acid (IAA), a plant hormone derived from the Trp biosynthetic pathway (Morino et al., 2005). The analyses indicated that, in addition to high Trp levels, free IAA and its conjugates were both increased in the transgenic rice; those data suggested that the activity of the recombinant protein or the concentration of Trp (or both) is an important regulating factor of IAA biosynthesis.

MS analysis of target metabolites has also proven to be particularly helpful to develop and characterize GM plants with interesting traits for human health; for instance, GM plants developed to accumulate a metabolite or family of metabolites with a beneficial biological activity. The production of lignans in wheat has attracted attention because these phenylpropane dimers have been associated with anti-tumor activities in animal models. Ayella *et al.* genetically transformed wheat cultivars with a pinoresinol lariciresil reductase gene of *Forsithia* fused to an ubiquitin maize promoter in order to overexpress the enzyme and, therefore, to enhance lignan biosynthesis (Ayella, Trick & Wang, 2007). The LC-MS analysis used to determine the lignan content in transgenic wheat transformants was essential to corroborate and evaluate the functional transformation success and, therefore, the intended effect of the genetic modification. HPLC separations of lignan extracts, obtained from solvent extraction from wheat seeds, were achieved with a C18 column with an ACN-water gradient. ESI-MS (positive mode; from m/z 100 to 1500) detected increased levels of secoisolariciresinol diglucoside in transgenic wheat lines to confirm a strong enhancement in lignan levels (Ayella, Trick & Wang, 2007).

GM tomatoes with increased flavonoid glycosides levels is another example of GM crops developed to confer beneficial biological activity to the consumer. In this case, the intended modification brings about some prevention of cancer and other pathologies, because the antioxidant activity of the vegetable has been improved. [(Le Gall *et al.*, 2003a); (Le Gall *et al.*, 2003b)]. Transgenic tomatoes were generated for the simultaneous overexpression of two maize regulatory genes of flavonoid biosynthesis, *leaf color* and *colorless* [(Le Gall *et al.*, 2003a); (Le Gall *et al.*, 2003b)]. A variety of analytical techniques (LC with DAD, NMR, MS

and MS/MS) were used to investigate flavonoid composition of transgenic and control tomatoes. The chromatographic analyses of a number of tomato extracts indicated the presence of 7 flavonoids at much higher concentration (up to 60-fold difference) in transgenic tomatoes than in the non-transgenic controls at different stages of maturation. LC-MS and LC-MS/MS data confirmed the identity of the aglycon moiety of two minor, but important, dihydrokaempferol hexosides. This identification was achieved by comparing the main fragmentations of MH⁺ ions of the unknown analytes with MH⁺ ions obtained from standards of flavonoid glycosides [(Le Gall *et al.*, 2003a); (Le Gall *et al.*, 2003b)].

The accurate determination of a metabolite or group of metabolites in the different plant tissues and organs is essential in many studies of GM plants. This aspect is especially important in transgenic crops with bioremediation traits (i.e., transgenic crops used to return the natural environment altered by contaminants to its original condition). For instance, in phytoremediation of metals by transgenic plants, the capabilities of the GM plant to hyperaccumulate, transport, or transform inorganic contaminants in the different organisms are relevant aspects that must be studied in order to evaluate the plant potential to assist in the remediation of metal-contaminated soils. For efficient soil remediation, phytoextraction must be coupled to translocation to other plant tissues that are more readily accessed and removed. The translocation of metals can be studied by LC connected to inductively coupled plasma mass spectroscopy (LC-ICP-MS) as it is illustrated in a recent study aimed at the development and application of an analytical method for the accurate determination of cadmiumphytochelatins in A. thaliana plants that are genetically modified to express the wheat phytochelatin synthases under the control of the constitutive CaMV 35S promoter (Sadi et al., 2008). To facilitate the speciation of cadmium-phytochelatin complexes, the high efficiency and resolution capability of LC was combined with the excellent sensitivity of ICP-MS for cadmium-selective detection. The main advantages of LC-ICP-MS are derived from its use for speciation analysis, however, prior to method development, an ICP-MS interface was modified in order to improve the sensitivity for the analytes that elute in high organic solvent mobile phase from the RP-HPLC column. These modifications included the use of solvent-resistant materials, the use of vapor-pressure control by cooling the spray chamber to avoid plasma disruption, and the addition of 5% oxygen (v:v) to the Ar carrier flow to react with the carbon in the sample to prevent any carbon deposition on the sampling cone. Parameters that affect the resolution of the analytes with a C18 HPLC column, mobile phase composition and pH, were investigated. The method provided limits of detection (LOD) for three different cadmium-phytochelatin complexes that ranged from 49 to 92 ng/L in plant extracts. Analyses, under optimized RP-HPLC-ICP-MS conditions, of root and shoot extracts from *Arabidopsis* plants grown in the presence of 10 μM Cd²⁺ demonstrated that cadmium (as cadmium-phytochelatin complexes) accumulation was greater in the root and the shoot tissues of the transgenic plant as compared to the wild type. Also, the higher amounts of cadmium complexes found in the shoots than in the roots suggested that phytochelatins contributed to cadmium accumulation in aerial parts of the plants.

CE-MS coupling was used for the first time by Bianco *et al.* in 2003 for the analysis of target metabolites in GM crops (Bianco *et al.*, 2003). The study was aimed to the analysis with a previously optimized method based on NACE-ESI-IT MS coupling (Bianco *et al.*, 2002) of glycoalkaloids (GAs), known antinutrient compounds, in tubers of GM virus Y-resistant potato plants. The use of organic solvents with volatile electrolytes for the CE separation of GAs exhibited very good MS compatibility. The GA content was evaluated from methanolic extracts from three lines of modified potato plants (var. Désirée) resistant, intermediate, and susceptible to infection by potato virus Y (PVY) and a conventional cv. Désirée. IT MS/MS identified α -chaconine and α -solanine GAs. It was found that the highest level of total GAs was found in the peel; potato tubers from the resistant line showed a

slightly higher content of α -solanine in the peel and in the flesh when compared to tubers of control (Bianco *et al.*, 2003).

IV. FUTURE OUTLOOK

Crop (and plant) proteomics is a growing discipline. The full potential of proteomics has not yet been exploited in plant research when compared with other proteomic technologies used to investigate prokaryotes, yeast, and humans. 2-DGE, together with MS-based methodologies, remains the most widely available approach for proteomic analysis of GM crops, even though there is a notorious difficulty to reproduce results between laboratories. An on-line combination of chromatography and/or capillary electromigration methods, coupled to advanced MS instruments, has already been demonstrated to be effective in the analysis of proteins and peptides to create new and encouraging perspectives to address the discovery of any proteome.

New generation MS instrumentation provides increasingly accurate qualitative and quantitative data on proteomics and metabolomics. New compact mass analyzers, such as the Orbitrap, provide high mass accuracy with the possibility of MS/MS experiments and less cost than FT-ICR-MS. Also, the Orbitrap, which offers new perspectives for proteome and metabolome analysis [(Yates *et al.*, 2006); (Macek *et al.*, 2006); (Kiefer, Portais & Vorholt, 2008)], has still not been demonstrated in the analysis of GM crops. It is also expected that high-resolution hybrid mass spectrometers, such as a Q-TOF MS instrument, with a proven suitability for metabolic profiling, will find more applications in the near future within the GMO research field (Goodacre *et al.*, 2002). Also, developments such as nano-ESI MS with better sensitivity capabilities can be used to improve metabolomic MS analysis in plants by

direct infusion [(Sudjaroen et al., 2005); (Lokhov & Archakov, 2009)]; therefore, their use for GM plant investigations is also predictable. Improvements in coupling MS with separation or other analytical techniques must also be considered. Analytical platforms that combine conventional chromatographic/electrophoretic techniques with MS are capable of reasonable resolution and moderate throughput. However, higher resolution and peak-capacity alternatives to conventional couplings for complex protein and metabolite profiling offer good possibilities for GMO characterization. Among these techniques, UPLC-MS and nano-LC-MS have already demonstrated excellent capabilities in the analysis of metabolites [(Muth et al, 2008); (Lohkov & Archakov, 2009)]. In this regard, the hyphenation of CE with MS will achieve all its huge potential once more-robust, -sensitive, and -reproducible interfaces become available for this coupling. Also, one of the most promising alternatives to conventional MS platforms for metabolomic studies of GM crops is comprehensive twodimensional chromatography (GCxGC and LCxLC). Thus, comprehensive two-dimensional GC-MS (GCxGC-MS) is ideal for the analysis of volatile compounds in complex samples. However, GCxGC requires very high-scan speed mass analyzers. Accordingly, the good scanning speed of TOF-MS detectors, as well as its high resolution and mass accuracy, makes them the best option for this coupling (Herrero et al, 2009). This coupling has already been used for analysis of compounds in plants (Pierce et al, 2006) and foods like carrots, tea, or berries [(Dallüge et al, 2002); (Schurek et al, 2008); (Banerjee et al, 2008)]. Comprehensive two-dimensional LC-MS (LCxLC-MS) is also a potential tool for metabolite analysis in plants and foods, as already demonstrated [(Dugo et al., 2008); (Mondello et al., 2008)].

As mass spectrometry evolves with more powerful and complex instruments, more data are generated that must be analyzed. Data processing is already a critical step to obtain a successful "-omic" study, and represents a new challenge in the bioinformatics field. Accordingly, computational techniques must be developed to process, integrate, and analyze

MS data. A precise integration of a wide range of analytical methodologies with MS as well as the coordination of multiple scientific specialists (from biological sciences, separation sciences, mass spectrometry, and bioinformatics) is still needed to characterize entire proteomes and metabolomes. In this regard, the development of global data-integration approaches (like, e.g., systems biology) will provide a comprehensive and deep knowledge on the entire process taking place in any organism (i.e., from the DNA level to the final metabolite, passing through the generated transcript and protein).

Data collection from different laboratories will increase proteome and metabolome coverage, and improve present proteome information from non-model or poorly characterized crops. However, the quality of the proteomic and metabolomic data, as well as the quality of the experimental design and proper statistical data treatment, should be improved in future studies. Also, more work is needed to characterize natural variability of crops to make easier the identification of any unintended effect or GM crop. The definition of common standardized experimental protocols is a major challenge in proteomics and metabolomics. Unifying analytical platforms and protocols will allow the comparison of experiments performed in laboratories worldwide. In addition, much effort is needed to integrate proteomics and metabolomics with genomics data. This integration will involve a vast quantity of collaborative work to compare and share data within the scientific community. All of these advances will serve to determine common proteomic and metabolomic workflows in order to apply these MS-based methodologies as part of the existing comparative safety assessment process for GM crops.

V. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS.

This work was supported by AGL2008-05108-C03-01 (Ministerio de Ciencia e Innovación) and CSD2007-00063 FUN-C-FOOD (Programa CONSOLIDER, Ministerio de Educación y Ciencia) projects. C.L. wants to thank Comunidad Autónoma de Madrid for a grant.

VI. REFERENCES

- Aggarwal K, Choe LH, Lee KH. 2006. Shotgun proteomics using the iTRAQ isobaric tags. Brief Funct Genomic Proteomic 5:112-120.
- Albo AG, Mila S, Digilio G, Motto M, Aime S, Corpillo D. 2007. Proteomic analysis of a genetically modified maize flour carrying Cry1Ab gene and comparison to the corresponding wild-type. Maydica 52:443-455.
- Ali S, Zafar Y, Xianyin Z, Ali GM, Jumin T. 2008. Transgenic crops: current challenges and future perspectives. Afr J Biotechnol. 7:4667-4676.
- Aharoni A, De Vos CHR, Verhoeven HA., Maliepaard CA., Kruppa G, Bino R, Goodenowe DB. 2002. Nontargeted metabolome analysis by use of Fourier Transform Ion Cyclotron Mass Spectrometry. OMICS 6:217-234.
- Ayella AK, Trick HN, Wang W. 2007. Enhancing lignan biosynthesis by over-expressing pinoresinol lariciresinol reductase in transgenic wheat. Mol Nutr Food Res 51:1518-1526.
- Babu CVS, Song EJ, Babar SM, Wi MH, Yoo YS. 2006. Capillary electrophoresis at the omics level: towards systems biology. Electrophoresis 27:97-110.
- Baginsky S. 2009. Plant proteomics: concepts, applications, and novel strategies for data interpretation. Mass Spectrom Rev 28:93-120.
- Banerjee K, Patil SH, Dasgupta S, Oulkar DP, Patil SB, Savant R, Adsule PG. 2008. Optimization of separation and detection conditions for the multiresidue analysis of pesticides in grapes by comprehensive two-dimensional gas chromatography-time-of-flight mass spectrometry J Chromatogr A 1190:350-357.
- Batista R, Saibo N, Lourenzo T, Oliveira MM. 2008. Microarray analyses reveal that plant mutagenesis may induce more transcriptomic changes than transgene insertion. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 105:3640-3645.

- Baudo MM, Lyons R, Powers S, Pastori GM, Edwards KJ, Holdsworth MJ, Shewry PR. 2006. Transgenesis has less impact on the transcriptome of wheat grain than conventional breeding. Plant Biotechnol J 4:369-380.
- Berg P, Baltimore D, Brenner S, Roblin III RO, Singer MF. 1975. Asilomar Conference on Recombinant DNA Molecules. Science 188:991-994.
- Bernal JL, Nozal MJ, Toribio L, Diego C, Mayo R, Maestre R. 2005. Use of supercritical fluid extraction and gas chromatography—mass spectrometry to obtain amino acid profiles from several genetically modified varieties of maize and soybean. J Chromatogr A 1192:266-272.
- Bianco G, Schmitt-Kopplin P, De Benedetto G, Kettrup A, Cataldi TRI. 2002. Determination of glycoalkaloids and relative aglycones by nonaqueous capillary electrophoresis coupled with electrospray ionization-ion trap mass spectrometry. Electrophoresis 23:2904-2912.
- Bianco G, Schmitt-Kopplin P, Crescenzi A, Comes S, Kettrup A, Cataldi TRI. 2003. Evaluation of glycoalkaloids in tubers of genetically modified virus Y-resistant potato plants (var. Désirée) by non-aqueous capillary electrophoresis coupled with electrospray ionization mass spectrometry (NACE–ESI–MS). Anal Bioanal Chem 375:799-804.
- Brown SC, Kruppa G, Dasseux JL. 2005. Metabolomics applications of FT-ICR mass spectrometry. Mass Spectrom Rev 24:223-231.
- Cahoon EB, Hall SE, Ripp KG, Ganzke TS, Hitz WD, Coughland SJ. 2003. Metabolic redesign of vitamin E biosynthesis in plants for tocotrienol production and increased antioxidant content. Nat Biotechnol 21:1082-1087.
- Careri M, Elviri L, Mangia A, Zagnoni I, Agrimonti C, Visioli G, Marmiroli N. 2003. Analysis of protein profiles of genetically modified potato tubers by matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry. Rapid Commun Mass Sp 17:479-483.
- Carpentier SC, Panis B, Vertommen A, Swennen R, Sergeant K, Renaut J, Laukens K, Witters E, Samyn B, Devreese B. 2008. Proteome analysis of non-model plants: a challenging but powerful approach. Mass Spectrom Rev 27:354-77.
- Catchpole GS, Beckmann M, Enot DP, Mondhe M, Zywicki B, Taylor J, Hardy N, Smith A, King RD, Kell DB, Fiehn O, Draper J. 2005. Hierarchical metabolomics demonstrates substantial compositional similarity between genetically modified and conventional potato crops. P Natl Acad Sci 102:14458-14462.
- Cellini F, Chesson A, Colquhoun I, Constable A, Davies HV, Engel KH, Gatehouse AMR, Kärenlampi S, Kok EJ, Leguay JJ, Lehesranta S, Noteborn HPJM, Pedersen J, Smith M. 2004. Unintended effects and their detection in genetically modified crops. Food Chem Toxicol 42:1089-1125.
- Chen GD, Pramanik BN. 2008. LC-MS for protein characterization: current capabilities and future trends. Expert Rev Proteom 5:435-444.

- Chicurel ME, Dalma-Weiszhausz DD. 2002. Microarrays in pharmacogenomics-Advances and future promise. Pharmacogenomics 3:589-601.
- Cifuentes A, Food analysis and Foodomics. 2009. J Chromatogr. A 1216:7109-7110.
- Coll A, Nadal A, Palaudelmas M, Messeguer J, Melé E, Puigdomenech P, Pla M. 2008. Lack of repeatable differential expression patterns between MON810 and comparable commercial varieties of maize. Plant Mol Biol 68:105-117.
- Corpillo D, Gardini G, Vaira AM, Basso M, Aime S, Accotto GP, Fasano M. 2004. Proteomics as a tool to improve investigation of substantial equivalence in genetically modified organisms: The case of a virus-resistant tomato. Proteomics 4:193-200.
- Craig W, Tepfer M, Degrassi G, Ripandelli D. 2008. An overview of general features of risk assessments of genetically modified crops. Euphytica 164:853-880.
- Dallüge J, van Rijn M, Beens J, Vreuls RJJ, Brinkman UAT. 2002. Comprehensive twodimensional gas chromatography with time-of-flight mass spectrometric detection applied to the determination of pesticides in food extracts J Chromatogr A 965:207-217.
- De Block M, Botterman J, van Dewiele M, Dockx J, Thoen C, Goseele V, Movva NR, Thompson C, Van Montagu M, Leemans J. 1987. Engineering herbicide resistance in plants by expression of a detoxifying enzyme. EMBO J 6:2513-2518.
- Di Carli M, Villani ME, Renzone G, Nardi L, Pasquo A, Franconi R, Scaloni A, Benvenuto E, Desiderio A. 2009. Leaf proteome analysis of transgenic plants expressing antiviral antibodies. J Proteome Res 8:838-848.
- Di Luccia A, Lamacchia C, Fares C, Padalino L, Mamone G, La Gatta B, Gambacorta G, Faccia M, Di Fonzo N., La Notte E. 2005. A proteomic approach to study protein variation in GM durum wheat in relation to technological properties of semolina. Ann Chim-Rome 95:405-414.
- Domingo JL. 2007. Toxicity studies of genetically modified plants: A review of the published literature. Crit Rev in Food Sci 47:721–733.
- Dugo P, Herrero M, Kumm T, Giuffrida D, Dugo G, Mondello L. 2008. Comprehensive normal-phase × reversed-phase liquid chromatography coupled to photodiode array and mass spectrometry detection for the analysis of free carotenoids and carotenoid esters from mandarin. J Chromatogr A. 1189:196-206.
- Edwards EL, Rodrigues JA, Ferreira J, Goodall DM, Rauter AP, Justino J, Thomas-Oates J. 2006. Capillary electrophoresis-mass spectrometry characterisation of secondary metabolites from the antihyperglycaemic plant *Genista tenera*. Electrophoresis 27:2164-2170.
- European Food Safety Agency. 2006. Guidance document of the scientific panel on genetically modified organisms for the risk assessment of genetically modified plants and derived food and feed. EFSA Communications Departmente, Parma, Italy.

- Elenis DS, Kalogianni DP, Glynou K, Ioannou PC, Christopoulos TK. 2008. Advances in molecular techniques for the detection and quantification of genetically modified organisms. Anal Bioanal Chem 392:347-354.
- Erny GL, León C, Marina ML, Cifuentes A. 2008. Time of flight versus ion trap MS coupled to CE to analyse intact proteins. J Sep Sci 31:1810-1818.
- Fernandez Ocaña M, Fraser P, Patel RKP, Halket JM, Bramley PM. 2007. Mass spectrometric detection of CP4 EPSPS in genetically modified soya and maize. Rapid Commun Mass Sp 21:319-328.
- Fernandez Ocaña M, Fraser P, Patel RKP, Halket JM, Bramley PM. 2009. Evaluation of stable isotope labelling strategies for the quantitation of CP4 EPSPS in genetically modified soya. Anal Chim Acta 634:75-82.
- Fiehn O, Kopka J, Dormann P, Altmann T, Trethewney RN, Willmitzer L. 2000. Metabolite profiling for functional genomics. Nat Biotech 18:1157-1161.
- Fitch MM, Manshardt RM, Gonsalves D, Slightom JL, Sanford JC. 1992. Virus resistant papaya plants derived from tissues bombarded with the coat protein gene of papaya ringspot virus. Biotechnol 10:1466-1472.
- Franceschetti M, Perry B, Thompson B, Hanfrey C, Michael AJ. 2004. Expression proteomics identifies biochemical adaptations and defense responses in transgenic plants with perturbed polyamine metabolism. FEBS Lett 576:477-480.
- Frewer L, Lassen J, Kettlitz B, Scholderer J, Beekman V, Berdal KG. 2004. Societal aspects of genetically modified foods. Food Chem Toxicol 42:1181-1193.
- Galbraith DW. 2006. DNA microarray analyses in higher plants. OMICS J Integr Biol 10:455-473.
- García-Cañas V, González R, Cifuentes A. 2002a. Ultrasensitive detection of genetically modified maize DNA by capillary gel electrophoresis with laser-induced fluorescence using different fluorescent intercalating dyes. J Agric Food Chem 50:4497-4502.
- García-Cañas V, González R, Cifuentes A. 2002b. Detection of genetically modified maize by the polymerase chain reaction and capillary gel electrophoresis with UV detection and laser-induced fluorescence. J Agric Food Chem 50:1016-1021.
- García-Cañas V, Cifuentes A, González R. 2004a. Detection of genetically modified organisms in foods by DNA amplification techniques. Crit Rev in Food Sci 44:425-436.
- García-Cañas V, Cifuentes A, González R. 2004b. Quantitation of Transgenic Bt Event-176 Maize Using Double Quantitative Competitive Polymerase Chain Reaction and Capillary Electrophorsesis Laser-Induced Fluorescence. Anal Chem 76:2306-2313.
- García Cañas V, Cifuentes A. 2008. Recent advances in the application of capillary electromigration methods for food analysis. Electrophoresis 29:294-309.

- García-Cañas V, Simó C, León C, Cifuentes, A. 2009. Advances in Nutrigenomics research: Novel and future analytical approaches to investigate the biological activity of natural compounds. J Pharmaceut Biomed in press.
- Garcia-Villalba R, León C, Dinelli G, Segura-Carretero A, Fernandez-Gutierrez A, Garcia-Cañas V, Cifuentes A. 2008. Comparative metabolomic study of transgenic versus conventional soybean using capillary electrophoresis—time-of-flight mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 1195:164-173.
- Garza C, Stover P. 2003. General introduction: the role of science in identifying common ground in the debate on genetic modification of foods. Trends in Food Sci Technol 14:182–190.
- Giuffrida A, León C, García-Cañas V, Cucinotta V, Cifuentes A. 2009. Modified cyclodextrins for fast and sensitive chiral-capillary electrophoresis-mass spectrometry. Electrophoresis 30:1734-1742.
- Goldstein DA, Thomas JA. 2004. Biopharmaceuticals derived from genetically modified plants, Q J Med 97:705-716.
- Goodacre R, Vaidyanathan S, Bianchi G, Kell DB. 2002. Metabolic profiling using direct infusion electrospray ionisation mass spectrometry for the characterisation of olive oils. Analyst 127:1457-1462.
- Grothaus GD, Bandla M, Currier T, Giroux R, Jenkins GR, Lipp M, Shan G, Stave JW, Pantella V. 2006. Immunoassay as an analytical tool in agricultural biotechnology. J AOAC Int 89:913-928.
- Hails RS. 2000. Genetically modified plants—the debate continues. Trends Ecol Evol 15:14-18.
- Hamels S, Glouden T, Gillard K, Mazzara M, Debode F, Foti N, Sneyers M, Esteve T, Pla M, Berben G, Moens W, Bertheau Y, Audeon C, Van den Eede G, Remacle J. 2009. A PCR-microarray method for the screening of genetically modified organisms. Eur Food Res Technol 228:531-541.
- Harada K, Ohyama Y, Tabushi T, Kobayashi A, Fukusaki E. 2008. Quantitative analysis of anionic metabolites for *Catharanthus roseus* by capillary electrophoresis using sulfonated capillary coupled with electrospray ionization-tandem mass spectrometry. J Biosci Bioeng 105:249-260.
- Hashimoto W, Momma K, Katsube T, Ohkawa Y, Ishige T, Kito M, Utsumi S, Murata K. 1998. Safety assessment of genetically engineered potatoes with designed soybean glycinin: Compositional analyses of the potato tubers and digestibility of the newly expressed protein in transgenic potatoes. J Sci Food Agri 79:1607-1612.
- Haynes PA, Roberts TH. 2007. Subcellular shotgun proteomics in plants: looking beyond the usual suspects. Proteomics 7:2963-2975.

- Heide BR, Drømtorp SM, Rudi K, Heir E, Holck AL. 2008. Determination of eight genetically modiWed maize events by quantitative, multiplex PCR and Xuorescence capillary gel electrophoresis. Eur Food Res Technol 227:1125-1137.
- Hernandez M, Pla M, Esteve T, Prat S, Puigdomenech P, Ferrando A. 2003. A specific real-time quantitative PCR detection system for event MON810 in maize YieldGard based on the 30-transgene integration sequence. Transgenic Res 12:179-218.
- Herrero M, Ibanez E, Cifuentes A. 2008. Capillary electrophoresis-electrospray-mass spectrometry in peptide analysis and peptidomics. Electrophoresis 29:2148-2160.
- Herrero M, Ibañez E, Cifuentes A, Bernal J. 2009. Multidimensional chromatography in food analysis. J Chromatogr A 1216:7110-7129.
- Herring RJ. 2008. Opposition to transgenic technologies: ideology, interests and collective action frames. Nat Rev 9:458-463.
- Hoekenga OA. 2008. Using metabolites to estimate unintended effects in transgenic crop plants: problems, promises and opportunities. J Biomol Tech 19:159-166.
- Horvath-Szanics E, Szabo Z, Janaky T, Pauk J, Hajos G. 2006. Proteomics as an emergent tool for identification of stress-induced proteins in control and genetically modified wheat lines. Chromatographia 63:S143-S147.
- Inaba Y, Brotherton JE, Ulanov A, Widholm JM. 2007. Expression of a feedback insensitive anthranilate synthase gene from tobacco increases free tryptophan in soybean plants. Plant Cell Rep 26:1763–1771.
- Ioset JR, Urbaniak B, Ndjoko-Ioset K, Wirth J, Martin F, Gruissem W, Hostettmann K, Sautter C. 2007. Flavonoid profiling among wild type and related GM wheat varieties. Plant Mol Biol 65:645-654.
- James C. 2008. Global Status of Commercialized Biotech/GM Crops: 2008. The International Service for the Acquisition of Agri-Biotech Applications (ISAAA). ISAAA Brief No 39. The International Service for the Acquisition of Agri-Biotech Applications (ISAAA), Ithaca, NY.
- Jorrín JV, Maldonado AM, Castillejo MA. 2007. Plant proteome analysis: a 2006 update. Proteomics 7:2947-2962.
- Karamollaoglu I, Öktema HA, Mutlub M. 2009. QCM-based DNA biosensor for detection of genetically modified organisms (GMOs). Biochem Engineering J 44:142-150.
- Kiefer P, Portais JC, Vorholt JA. 2008. Quantitative metabolome analysis using liquid chromatography–high-resolution mass spectrometry. Anal Biochem 382:94-100.
- Kim ST, Cho KS, Jang YS, Kang KY. 2001. Two-dimensional electrophoretic analysis of rice proteins by polyethylene glycol fractionation for protein arrays. Electrophoresis 22:2103-2109.

- Kinney AJ. 2006. Metabolic engineering in plants for human health and nutrition. Curr Opin Biotechnol 17:130-138.
- Kok EJ, Kuiper HA. 2003. Comparative safety assessment for biotech crops. Trends Biotechnol 21:439-444.
- Komatsu S, Yang G, Khan M, Onodera H, Toki S, Yamaguchi M. 2007. Over-expression of calcium-dependent protein kinase 13 and calreticulin interacting protein 1 confers cold tolerance on rice plants. Mol Genet Genomics 277:713-723.
- König A, Cockburn A, Crevel RW, Debruyne E, Grafstroem R, Hammerling U, Kimber I, Knudsen I, Kuiper HA, Peijnenburg AA, Penninks AH, Poulsen M, Scauzu M, Wal JM. 2004. Assessment of the safety of foods derived from genetically modified (GM) crops. Food Chem Toxicol 42:1047–1088.
- Kuiper HA, Kleter GA, Hub PJ, Kok EJ. 2001. Assessment of the food safety issues related to genetically modified foods. Plant J 27:503-528.
- Kuiper HA, Kleter GA, Noteborn HP, Kok EJ. 2002. Substantial equivalence—an appropriate paradigm for the safety assessment of genetically modified foods?. Toxicology 181-182: 427-431.
- Kuiper HA, Kleter GA. 2003. The scientific basis for risk assessment and regulation of genetically modified foods. Trends Food Sci Technol 14:277-293.
- Labate MT, Ko K, Ko ZW, Pinto LS, Real MJ, Romano MR, Barja PR, Granell A, Friso G, van Wijk KJ, Brugnoli E, Labate CA. 2004. Constitutive expression of pea Lhcb 1-2 in tobacco affects plant development, morphology and photosynthetic capacity. Plant Mol Biol 55:701-714.
- Lapainis T, Rubakhin SS, Sweedler JV. 2009. Capillary electrophoresis with electrospray ionization mass spectrometric detection for single-cell metabolomics. Anal Chem 81:5858-5864.
- Latham JR, Wilson AK, Steinbrecher RA. 2006. The Mutational Consequences of Plant Transformation. J Biomed Biotech 25376:1-7.
- Le Gall G, Dupont MS, Mellon FA, Davis AL, Collins GJ, Verhoeyen ME, Colquhoun MJ. 2003. Characterization and Content of Flavonoid Glycosides in Genetically Modified Tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum) Fruits. J Agric Food Chem 51:2438-2446.
- Le Gall G, Colquhon IJ, Davis AL, Collins GJ, Verhoeyen ME. 2003b. Metabolite profiling of tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum) using 1H NMR spectroscopy as a tool to detect potential unintended effects following a genetic modification. J Agric Food Chem 51:2447-2456.
- Lehesranta SJ, Davies HV, Shepherd LV, Nunan N, McNicol JW, Auriola S, Koistinen KM, Suomalainen S, Kokko HI, Kärenlampi SO. 2005. Comparison of tuber proteomes of potato varieties, landraces, and genetically modified lines. Plant Physiol 138:1690-1699.

- León C, Rodriguez-Meizoso I, Lucio M, Garcia-Cañas V, Ibañez E, Schmitt-Kopplin P, Cifuentes A. 2009. Metabolomics of transgenic foods combining Fourier Transform-Ion Cyclotron Resonance-Mass Spectrometry, capillary electrophoresis-mass spectrometry and pressurized liquid extraction. J Chromatogr A 1216:7314-7323.
- Levandi T, León C, Kaljurand M, Garcia-Cañas V, Cifuentes A. 2008. Capillary Electrophoresis Time-of-Flight Mass Spectrometry for Comparative Metabolomics of Transgenic versus Conventional Maize. Anal Chem 80:6329-6335.
- Lohkov PG, Archakov AI. 2009. Mass spectrometry methods in metabolomics. Biochemistry-Moscow 3:1-9.
- Lu X, Zhao X, Bai C, Zhao C, Lu G, Xu G. 2008. LC–MS-based metabonomics analysis. J Chromatogr B 866:64-76.
- Luo J, Ning T, Sun Y, Zhu J, Zhu Y, Lin Q, Yang D. 2009. Proteomic analysis of rice endosperm cells in response to expression of hGM-CSF. J Proteome 8:829-837.
- Ma C, Wang H, Lu X, Xu G, Liu B. 2008. Metabolic fingerprinting investigation of *Artemisia annua* L. in different stages of development by gas chromatography and gas chromatography—mass spectrometry. J. Chromatogr A. 1186:412-419.
- Macek B, Waanders LF, Olsen JV, Mann M. 2006. Top-down protein sequencing and MS3 on a hybrid linear quadrupole ion trap-orbitrap mass spectrometer. Mol Cell Proteom 5:949-958.
- Malowicki SMM, Martin R, Qian MC. 2008. Comparison of Sugar, Acids, and Volatile Composition in Raspberry Bushy Dwarf Virus-Resistant Transgenic Raspberries and the Wild Type 'Meeker' (*Rubus Idaeus* L.). J Agric Food Chem 56:6648-6655.
- Marmiroli N, Maestri E, Gullì M, Malcevschi A, Peano C, Bordoni R, De Bellis G. 2008. Methods for detection of GMOs in food and feed. Anal Bioanal Chem 392:369-384.
- Marshall AG, Hendrickson CL, Jackson GS. 1998. Fourier transform ion cyclotron resonance mass spectrometry: a primer. Mass Spectrom Rev 17:1-35.
- Michelini E, Simoni P, Cevenini L, Mezzanotte L, Roda A. 2008. New trends in bioanalytical tools for the detection of genetically modified organisms: an update. Anal Bioanal Chem 392:355-367.
- Millstone E, Brunner E, Mayer S. 1999. Beyond substantial equivalence. Nature 401:525-526.
- Mondello L, Herrero M, Kumm T, Dugo P, Cortes H, Dugo G. 2008. Quantification in comprehensive two-dimensional liquid chromatography. Anal Chem 80:5418-5424.
- Monton MRN, Soga T. 2007. Metabolome analysis by capillary electrophoresis–mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 1168:237-246.

- Morino K, Matsuda F, Miyazawa H, Sukegawa A, Miyagawa H, Wakasa K. 2005. Metabolic profiling of tryptophan-overproducing rice calli that express a feedback-insensitive α subunit of anthranilate synthase. Plant Cell Physiol 46:514-521.
- Morisset D, Stebih D, Cankar K, Zel J, Gruden K. 2008. Alternative DNA amplification methods to PCR and their application in GMO detection: a review. Eur Food Res Technol 227:1287-1297.
- Mungur R, Glass AND, Goodenow DB, Lightfoot DA. 2005. Metabolite fingerprinting in transgenic *Nicotiana tabacum* altered by the *Escherichia coli* glutamate dehydrogenase gene. J BioMed Biotechnol 2:198-214.
- Muth D, Marsden-Edwards E, Kachlicki P, Stobiecki M. 2008. Differentiation of isomeric malonylated flavonoid glyconjugates in plant extracts with UPLC-ESI/MS/MS. Phytochem Analysis 19:444-452.
- Namuth DJR, Jenkins GR. 2005. Real-time PCR some basic principles. J Nat Resour Life Sci Educ 34:124-125.
- Newton RP, Brenton AG, Smith CJ, Dudley E. 2004. Plant proteome analysis by mass spectrometry: principles, problems, pitfalls and recent developments. Phytochemistry 65:1449-1485.
- Nicoletti I, De Rossi A, Giovinazzo G, Corradini D. 2007. Identification and quantification of stilbenes in fruits of transgenic tomato plants (*Lycopersicon esculentum* Mill.) by reversed phase HPLC with photodiode array and mass spectrometry detection. J Agric Food Chem 55:3304-3311.
- Ohta D, Shibata D, Kanaya S. 2007. Metabolic profiling using Fourier transform ion-cyclotron-resonance mass spectrometry. Anal Bioanal Chem 389:1469-1475.
- Oikawa A, Nakamura Y, Ogura T, Kimura A, Suzuki H, Sakurai N, Shinbo Y, Shibata D, Kanaya S, Ohta D. 2006. Clarification of pathway-specific inhibition by Fourier transform ion cyclotron resonance/mass spectrometry-based metabolic phenotyping studies. Plant Physiol 142:398-413.
- Organization of Economic Cooperation & Development (OECD). 1993. Safety Evaluation of Foods Derived by Modern Biotechnology: Concepts and Principles, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, Paris, http://www.oecd.org/pdf/M00034000/M00034525.pdf).
- Page JS, Masselon CD, Smith RD. 2004. FTICR mass spectrometry for qualitative and quantitative bioanalyses. Curr Opin Biotechnol 15:3-11.
- Petit L, Pagny G, Baraige F, Nignol AC, Zhang D. 2007. Characterization of genetically modified maize in weakly contaminated seed batches and identification of the origin of the adventitious contamination. J AOAC Int 90:1098-1106.
- Pierce KM, Hope JL, Hoggard JC, Synovec RE. 2006. Principal component analysis based method to discover chemical differences in comprehensive two-dimensional gas

- chromatography with time-of-flight mass spectrometry (GC x GC-TOFMS) separations of metabolites in plant samples. Talanta 70:797-804.
- Ramautar R, Somsen GW, de Jong GJ. 2009. CE-MS in metabolomics. Electrophoresis 30:276-291.
- Righetti PG, Castagna A, Antonioli P, Boschetti E. 2005. Prefractionation techniques in proteome analysis: the mining tools of the third millennium. Electrophoresis 26:297-319.
- Robinson C. 2001. Genetic modification technology and food. Hammer W, editor. International Life Science Institute. ILSI Europe Concise Monograph Series.
- Rocco M, Corrado G, Arena S, D'Ambrosio C, Tortiglione C, Sellaroli S, Marrad M, Raob R, Scaloni A. 2008. The expression of tomato prosystemin gene in tobacco plants highly affects host proteomic repertoire. J Proteomics 71:176-185.
- Roessner U, Wagner C, Kopka J, Trethewney RN, Willmitzer L. 2000. Simultaneous analysis of metabolites in potato tuber by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. Plant J 23:131-142.
- Roessner U, Willmitzer L, Fernie AR. 2001a. High-resolution metabolic phenotyping of genetically and environmentally diverse potato tuber systems. Identification of phenocopies. Plant Physiol 127:749-764.
- Roessner U, Luedemann A, Brust D, Fiehn O, Linke T, Willmitzer L, Fernie AR. 2001b. Metabolic profiling allows comprehensive phenotyping of genetically or environmentally modified plant systems. Plant Cell 13:11-29.
- Roessner-Tunali U, Hegemann B, Lytovchenko A, Carrari F, Bruedigam C, Granot D, Fernie AR. 2003. Metabolic profiling of transgenic tomato plants overexpressing hexokinase reveals that the influence of hexose phosphorylation diminishes during fruit development. Plant Physiol 133:84-99.
- Roller S. 2001. Genetically modified food: threat or opportunity. Food Technol Biotechnol 39:259-263.
- Römpp A, Taban IM, Mihalca R, Duursma MC, Mize TH, McDonnel LA, Heeren RM. 2005. Examples of Fourier transform ion cyclotron resonance mass spectrometry developments: from ion physics to remote access biochemical mass spectrometry. Eur J Mass Spectrom 11:443-456.
- Rosati A, Bogani PG, Santarlasci A, Buiatti M. 2008. Characterisation of 3' transgene insertion site and derived mRNAs in MON810 YieldGard maize. Plant Mol Biol 67:271-281.
- Ross PL, Huang YN, Marchese JN, Williamson B, Parker K, Hattan S, Khainovski N, Pillai S, Dey S, Daniels S, Purkayastha S, Juhasz P, Martin S, Bartlet-Jones M, He F, Jacobson A, Pappin DJ. 2004. Multiplexed protein quantitation in *Saccharomyces*

- cerevisiae using amine-reactive isobaric tagging reagents. Mol Cell Proteomics 3:1154-1169.
- Ruebelt MC, Leimgruber NK, Lipp M, Reynolds TL, Nemeth MA, Astwood JD, Engel KH, Jany KD. 2006a. Application of two-dimensional gel electrophoresis to interrogate alterations in the proteome of genetically modified crops. 1. Assessing analytical validation. J Agric Food Chem 54:2154-2161.
- Ruebelt MC, Lipp M, Reynolds TL, Astwood JD, Engel KH, Jany KD. 2006b. Application of two-dimensional gel electrophoresis to interrogate alterations in the proteome of genetically modified crops. 2. Assessing natural variability. J Agric Food Chem 54:2162-2168.
- Ruebelt MC, Lipp M, Reynolds TL, Schmuke JJ, Astwood JD, DellaPenna D, Engel KH, Jany KD. 2006c. Application of two-dimensional gel electrophoresis to interrogate alterations in the proteome of genetically modified crops. 3. Assessing unintended effects. J Agric Food Chem 54:2169-2177.
- Sadi BBM, Vonderheide AP, Gong JM, Schroeder JI, Shann JR, Caruso JA. 2008. An HPLC-ICP-MS technique for determination of cadmium–phytochelatins in genetically modified *Arabidopsis thaliana*. J Chromatogr B 861:123-129.
- Sandra K, Moshir M, D'hondt F, Tuytten R, Verleysen K, Kas K, Francois I, Sandra P. 2009. Highly efficient peptide separations in proteomics Part 2: Bi- and multidimensional liquid-based separation techniques. J Chromatogr B 877:1019-1039.
- Sato S, Soga T, Nishioka T, Tomita M. 2004. Simultaneous determination of the main metabolites in rice leaves using capillary electrophoresis mass spectrometry and capillary electrophoresis diode array detection. Plant J 40:151-163.
- Sauvage FX, Pradal M, Chatelet P, Tesniere C. 2007. Proteome changes in leaves from grapevine (*Vitis vinifera* L.) transformed for alcohol dehydrogenase activity. J Agric Food Chem 55:2597-2603.
- Schubert DR. 2008. The Problem with Nutritionally Enhanced Plants. J Med Food 11:601-605.
- Schurek J, Portolés T, Hajslova J, Riddellova K, Hernández F. 2008. Application of head-space solid-phase microextraction coupled to comprehensive two-dimensional gas chromatography-time-of-flight mass spectrometry for the determination of multiple pesticide residues in tea samples. Anal Chim Acta 611:163-172.
- Scossa F, Laudencia-Chingcuanco D, Anderson OD, Vensel WH, Lafiandra D, D'Ovidio R, Masci S. 2008. Comparative proteomic and transcriptional profiling of a bread wheat cultivar and its derived transgenic line overexpressing a low molecular weight glutenin subunit gene in the endosperm. Proteomics 8:2948-2966.
- Shewmaker CK, Sheehy JA, Daley M, Colburn S, Ke DY.1999. Seed-specific overexpression of phytoene synthase: Increase in carotenoids and other metabolic effects. Plant Journal 20:401-412.

- Shanahan D, Stokes P, Burns M, Harris N. 2007. A novel method for the detection of Roundup ReadyTM soya using liquid chromatography–electrospray ionisation mass spectrometry. Eur Food Res Technol 225:483-491.
- Shen Y, Smith RD. 2002. Proteomics based on high-efficiency capillary separations. Electrophoresis 23:3106-3124.
- Shepherd LVT, McNicol JW, Razzo R, Taylor MA, Davies HV. 2006. Assesing the potential for unintended effects in genetically modified potatoes perturbed in metabolic and developmental processes. Targeted analysis of key nutrients and anti-nutrients. Transgenic Res 15:409-425.
- Shin YM, Park HJ, Yim SD, Baek NI, Lee CH, An G, Woo YM. 2006. Transgenic rice lines expressing maize C1 and R-S regulatory genes produce various flavonoids in the endosperm. Plant Biol J 4:303-315.
- Soga T, Ohashi Y, Ueno Y, Naraoka H, Tomita M, Nishioka T. 2003. Quantitative metabolome analysis using capillary electrophoresis mass spectrometry. J Proteome Res 2:488-494.
- Song EJ, Babar SM, Oh E, Hasan MN, Hong HM, Yoo YS. 2008. CE at the omics level: towards systems biology-an update. Electrophoresis 29:129-142.
- Stave JW. 2002. Protein immunoassay methods for detection of biotech crops: applications, limitations and practical considerations. J AOAC Int 85:780-786.
- Sudjaroen Y, Haubner R, Würtele G, Hull WE, Erben G, Spiegelhalder B, Changbumrung S, Bartsch H, Owen RW. 2005. Isolation and structure elucidation of phenolic antioxidants from Tamarind (Tamarindus indica L.) seeds and pericarp. Food Chem Toxicol 43:1673-1682.
- Suhre K, Schmitt-Kopplin P. 2008. MassTRIX: mass translator into pathways. Nucleic Acids Res. 36:W481-484.
- Takahashi H, Hotta Y, Hayashi M, Kawai-Yamada M, Komatsu S, Uchimiya H. 2005. High throughput metabolome and proteome analysis of transgenic rice plants (*Oryza sativa* L.). Plant Biotech 22:47-50.
- Takahashi H, Hayashi M, Goto F, Sato S, Soga T, Nishioka T, Tomita M, Kawai-Yamada M, Uchimiya H. 2006. Evaluation of Metabolic Alteration in Transgenic Rice Overexpressing Dihydroflavonol-4-reductase. Ann Bot 98:819-825.
- Tang J, Gao MX, Deng CH, Zhang XM. 2008. Recent development of multi-dimensional chromatography strategies in proteome research. J Chromatogr B 866:123-132.
- Tesniere C, Torregrosa L, Pradal M, Souquet JM, Gilles C, Dos Santos K, Chatelet P, Gunata Z. 2006. Effects of genetic manipulation of alcohol dehydrogenase levels on the response to stress and the synthesis of secondary metabolites in grapevine leaves. J Exp Bot 57:91-99.

- Thomson J. 2003. Genetically modified food crops for improving agricultural practice and their effects on human health. Trends Food Sci Technol 14:210-228.
- Timms JF, Cramer R. 2008. Difference gel electrophoresis. Proteomics 8:4886-4897.
- Twyman RM, Christou P, Stöger E. 2002. Genetic transformation of plants and their cells. In: Oksman-Kandentey KM, Barz WH, editors. New York: Marcel Dekker. p 114-144.
- Vergragt PJ, Brown HS. 2008. Genetic engineering in agriculture: New approaches for risk management through sustainability reporting. Technol Forecast Soc 75:783-798.
- Villas-Boas SG, Mas S, Akeson M, Smedsgaard J, Nielsen J. 2005. Mass spectrometry in metabolome analysis. Mass Spec Rev 24:613-646.
- World Health Organization (WHO). 2002. Foods derived from modern technology: 20 questions on genetically modified foods (available at: http://www.who.int/fsf/GMfood/).
- Widjaja I, Naumann K, Roth U, Wolf N, Mackey D, Dangl JL, Scheel D, Lee J. 2009. Combining subproteome enrichment and Rubisco depletion enables identification of low abundance proteins differentially regulated during plant defense. Proteomics 9:138-147.
- Wiklund S, Johansson E, Sjostrom L, Mellerowicz EJ, Edlund U, Shockcor JP, Gottfries J, Moritz T, Trygg J. 2008. Visualization of GC/TOF-MS-Based metabolomics data for identification of biochemically interesting compounds using OPLS class models. Anal Chem 80:115-122.
- Windels P, Taverniers I, Depicker A, Van Bockstaele E, De Loose M. 2001. Characterization of the roundup ready soybean insert. Eur Food Res Technol 213:107-111.
- Wisniewski JP, Frangne N, Massonneau A, Dumas C. 2002. Between myth and reality: genetically modified maize, an example of a sizeable scientific controversy. Biochimie 84:1095-1103.
- Wolfenbarger LL, Phifer PR. 2000. The ecologycal risk and benefits of genetically engineered plants. Science 290:2088- 2093.
- Yates JR, Cociorva D, Liao L, Zabrouskov V. 2006. Performance of a linear ion trap—orbitrap hybrid for peptide analysis. Anal Chem 78:493-500.
- Ye X, Al-Babili S, Kloti A, Zhang J, Lucca P, Beyer P, Potrykus I. 2000. Engineering the provitamin A (β-carotene) biosynthetic pathway into (carotenoid-free) rice endosperm. Science 287:303-305.
- Zawirska-Wojtasiak R, Gonslinski M, Szwacka, Gajc-Wolska J, Mildner-Szkudlarz S. 2009. Aroma Evaluation of Transgenic, Thaumatin II-Producing Cucumber Fruits. J Food Sci 74:204-210.

- Zhou J, Ma C, Xu H, Yuan K, Lu X, Zhu Z, Wu Y, Xu G. 2009. Metabolic profiling of transgenic rice with cryIAc and sck genes: An evaluation of unintended effects at metabolic level by using GC-FID and GC-MS. J Chromatogr B 877:725-732.
- Zolla L, Rinalducci S, Antonioli P, Righetti PG. 2008. Proteomics as a complementary tool for identifying unintended side effects occurring in transgenic maize seeds as a result of genetic modifications. J Proteome Res 7:1850-1861.

 $Table \ 1. \ Study \ of \ the \ substantial \ equivalence \ of \ GM \ crops \ with \ MS-based \ proteomic \ profiling \ methods.$

Crop	Donor organism	Protein expression	Trait/phenotype	Tissue	Protein separation	Protein identification	Ref.
	Tomato spotted wilt virus	TSWV nucleoprotein	Virus resistance	Seed	2-DGE	MALDI-TOF MS	Corpillo et al., 2004
Tomato	-	ScFv (G4)	Virus resistance	Leaf	DIGE	MALDI-TOF MS, μLC-ESI-IT MS/MS	Di Carli et al., 2009
	-	ScFv (B9)	Virus resistance	Leaf	DIGE	MALDI-TOF MS, μLC-ESI-IT MS/MS	Di Carli et al., 2009
Tobacco	Tomato	prosystemin	Insect resistance	Leaf	2-DGE	MALDI-TOF MS, μLC-ESI-IT MS/MS	Rocco et al., 2008
36.	B.thuringiensis	CryIA(b)	Insect resistance	Seed	2-DGE	MALDI-TOF MS	Albo et al., 2007
Maize	B.thuringiensis	CryIA(b)	Insect resistance	Seed	2-DGE	nLC-ESI-IT MS/MS	Zolla et al., 2008
Wheat	Tobacco	Rab1	Improved functional properies	Seed	2-DGE	MALDI-TOF MS, nESI-QqTOF MS/MS	Di Luccia et al., 2005
vv noac	Wheat	LMW-GS	Improved functional properies	Seed	2-DGE	LC-ESI-QTOF MS/MS	Scossa et al., 2008
	Potato	(Antisense G1-1 gene)	Sprouting delay	Tuber	-	MALDI-TOF MS	Careri et al., 2003
Potato	Aureobasidium pullulans	Glucan branching enzyme	Waxy phenotype	Tuber		μLC-ESI-IT MS/MS, μLC-ESI-QqTOF MS/MS	Lehesranta et al. 2005
	Potato	Glycoprotein	Changes in cell wall structure	Tuber	2-DGE		
	Potato	AdoMetDC	Modified metabolism	Tuber		MEC DOI QQI OI MID/MID	

 $\label{thm:constraints} \textbf{Table 2. Applications of MS-based approaches for metabolite profiling of GM crops.}$

Crop	Donor organism	Protein expression	Trait/phenotype	Tissue	Technique	Ref.
Rice	B.thuringiensis	Bt toxin, skc protein	Insect resistance	Grain	GC-EI-Q MS	Zhou et al., 2008
Raspberries	Dwarf virus	Virus movement protein	Virus resistance	Fruit	GC-EI-Q MS	Malowicki, Martin & Qian, 2008
Soybean	Petunia hybrida	EPSPS enzyme	Glyphosate tolerance	Grain	GC-EI-Q MS	Bernal et al., 2007
Maize	B.thuringiensis	Bt toxin	Insect resistance	Grain	GC-EI-Q MS	Bernal et al., 2007
Cucumber	Thaumatococcus daniellii	Thaumatin-II	Sweet flavour	Fruit	GC-EI-Q MS,	Zawirska-Wojtasiak <i>et</i> al., 2009
					GC-TOF MS	
A. annua	A. annua	Farnesyl diphosphate synthase	Artemisinin increase	Leaf	GC-EI-Q MS	Ma et al., 2008
Poplar	Poplar	PttPME enzyme	Methylesterification of homogalacturonan	Xylem	GC-TOF MS	Wiklund et al., 2008
Tomato	A.thaliana	Hexokinase	Altered carbohydrate metabolism	Leaf and fruit	GC-EI-Q MS	Roessner-Tunali <i>et al.</i> , 2003
	Potato	Modified starch & sucrose metabolism	Altered starch composition	Tuber	GC-EI-Q MS	Roessner et al., 2001a
Potato	Aureobasidium pullulans	Fructokinase, α -glucosidase, tetracycline, S-adenosylmethionine	Starch biosynthesis, leaf morphology, ethylene production	Tuber	GC-EI-Q MS	Shepherd et al., 2006
	A 22 1 1	1-SST, 1-FFT proteins	T. P. A. C.	Tuber	GC-TOF MS,	Catchpole et al., 2005
	Artichoke		Inulin synthesis		LC-Q MS	
Tomato	Grapevine	STS enzyme	Resveratrol synthesis	Fruit	LC-ESI-Q MS	Nicoletti et al., 2007

Wheat	Barley	B-1,3-glucanase	Antifungal activity	Leaf	LC-ESI-IT MS/MS	Ioset et al., 2007
Grapevine	E.coli	Adehide dehydrogenase	Abiotic stress	Leaf	LC-ESI-IT MS	Tesniere et al., 2006
Rice	Tobacco	Anthranilate synthase	Nutritionally enhanced	Calli	LC-ESI-Q MS/MS	Morino et al., 2005
	Maize	C1 & R-S regulatory genes	Flavonoid production	Leave	LC-ESI-IT MS/MS	Shin et al., 2006
Rice	Maize	Dihydroflavonol-4-reductase	Stress tolerance	Plant and calli	CE-ESI-MS	Takahashi et al., 2006
Maize	B.thuringiensis	Bt toxin	Insect resistance	Grain	CE-ESI-TOF MS	Levandi et al., 2008
Soybean	B.thuringiensis	Bt toxin	Insect resistance	Grain	CE-ESI-TOF MS	Giuffrida et al., 2009
	P. hybrida	EPSPS enzyme	Herbicide tolerance	Grain	CE-ESI-TOF MS	García-Villalba <i>et al.</i> , 2008
Maize	B.thuringiensis	Bt toxin	Insect resistance	Grain	FT-ICR-MS	Leon et al., 2009
Rice	Maize	YK1 protein	Stress tolerance	Calli and leaf	FT-ICR-MS	Takahashi <i>et al.</i> , 2005
Tobacco	E. coli & S. hygroscopicus	NADPH-GDH enzyme	Water deficit tolerance	Seed	FT-ICR-MS	Mungur et al., 2005

FIGURE LEGENDS

Figure 1. Schematic flow diagram of the different bottom-up strategies for protein analysis from complex protein extracts using MS-based analytical technologies.

Figure 2. GC-MS total ion chromatogram of different tissues from conventional tomato. A, GC-MS from tomato leaf; B, from fruit after 30 days maturation and C, fruit after 60 days maturation. From Roessner-Tunali *et al*, 2003.

Figure 3. CE-TOF-MS extracted ion electropherograms of the metabolites detected in two maize varieties; a transgenic one (PR33P66 Bt) and its corresponding isogenic line (PR33P66). Both varieties were grown in the same conditions. From Levandi *et al.*, 2008.

Figure 4. Partial least-squares discriminant analysis (PLS-DA) and Van Krevelen diagrams (atomic H/C versus O/C) generated from FT-ICR-MS analysis of maize extracts obtained with PLE and three different solvents (hexane, methanol, and water). For the three different groups (different solvents) the masses with the highest coefficient of regression are considered. These masses are represented in Van Krevelen diagram, and were submitted to MassTRIX reveal that the main differences between hexane and water consist in the massive presence of carbohydrate metabolism in the water and fatty acid in the hexane. From León *et al.*, 2009.

Figure 5. LC-TOF MS extracted ion chromatograms from 47 kDa SDS-PAGE of anion exchange fractions from (A) 0.5%, (B) 0.9%, (C) 2%, and (D) 5% GM soya. [M+2H]2+=m/z 558.30 corresponds to CP4 EPSPS tryptic peptide LAGGEDVADLR. [M+2H]2+=m/z 561.30 corresponds to synthetic peptide (L*)AGGEDVADLR. From Fernandez Ocaña *et al.*, 2009.